Joint Informational Hearing

of the

SENATE COMMITTEE ON HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES

Senator Deborah Ortiz, Chair

and the

LEGISLATIVE WOMEN’S CAUCUS

Senator Liz Figueroa, Chair

“Women in Pain:  Trends and Implications of

Underdiagnosis of Chronic Pain in Female Patients”

February 4, 2004

State Capitol


SENATOR LIZ FIGUEROA:  Let’s get started.


I’m Senator Liz Figueroa.  I want to welcome you to the Legislative Women’s Caucus and the Senate Health and Human Services Committee’s joint informational hearing on “Women in Pain:  Trends and Implications of Underdiagnosis of Chronic Pain in Female Patients.”  What a long name that is.  But it is an important subject—one that I’ve had growing interest in—and I look forward to further educating myself on the topic.  I know we have a number of great speakers this afternoon.


Assemblywoman Berg, feel free to join us.


Thank you for taking the time, all of you, to be here, and we look forward to hearing from the various panels.  


Regardless of gender, chronic pain in this country is largely undertreated.  We have found that from other hearings that we have held and various articles that have been published throughout the United States.  However, more recent reports have started to look at whether or not women in pain face an additional barrier to proper diagnosis and treatment.  As we will hear from Professor Hoffmann, recent studies show women pain patients are more likely to have a physician tell them that their pain is psychological or, as many of us have heard, “it’s all in your head.”  Physicians are therefore more likely to prescribe women sedatives to, quote, “calm their nerves,” which we’ve all heard that; whereas, men are likely to receive additional pain killers.


This hearing will examine the various biological, physiological, and cultural reasons for gender differences and treatment of chronic pain.  We will also hear recommendations from patient advocacy and medical communities on ways to mitigate this discrimination.


Before I begin, I would like to have my co-chair, Senator Nell Soto, say a few words.


SENATOR NELL SOTO:  Thank you very much, Senator Figueroa and Madam Chair.


Good afternoon to the witnesses and ladies and gentlemen in the audience.  There are two or three men here, so I’m glad about that.


First of all, I want to thank all of you for being here; for caring enough to attend.  And second, I’m pleased to announce that my Senate Concurrent Resolution—SCR 42, proclaiming February “Women in Pain Month”—was passed unanimously by the Senate last week.  


I’m looking forward to hearing all of the witnesses describe their own personal experiences because I, myself, have had some experience with the medical community where I felt that my concerns about pain were not being addressed in a serious way.  You know, a little old lady, she must have things in her head that aren’t true.  Because you look good, sometimes people think that you’re really not sick and that you’re just complaining.


We need to help women who are suffering and whose conditions are getting worse because their doctors mistakenly believe pain is all in the head or is hormonal.  It’s not just that these women are in physical pain, but what’s worse, their conditions are going undiagnosed.  In some instances, they’re conditions that become life-threatening or fatal, and that cannot be allowed to continue.


There are several questions that I would like addressed during this hearing:

· When a woman’s pain is underestimated and ignored, can her health be jeopardized because of that?

· When certain diseases go undiagnosed, do her children suffer when she does not have the proper medication to deal with her pain sufficiently?

And more importantly:

· What is the medical community doing to address this situation and correct it?


I look forward to hearing your testimony and hearing your answers to some of these questions.


And now Senator Figueroa will call on the first witness.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you.


We’d like to begin by bringing up Cynthia Toussaint, who will testify on her own personal experience regarding gender-biased treatment and her pain; and Professor Diane Hoffmann, who will give an overview of the academic research that has been done in this area.  Before you begin, I’d like you to state your names for the record.


Cynthia, it’s so nice to see you.  Cynthia brought all this to my attention a number of years ago, and we’ve been cohorts, trying to educate people and going around various parts of the state to let people know the importance of RSD.  It’s great seeing you.


MS. CYNTHIA TOUSSAINT:  Thank you.  Good seeing you.


Good afternoon, Senators.  Good afternoon, everyone in this room.  Good afternoon, Diane.  What a pleasure.


My favorite word in the world is “grace.”  Ironically, we are here today to discuss exactly the opposite because, you see, we have fallen from and we must work together to find our way back.  In the words of the great American writer Henry Miller:  “Man torturing man is a fiend beyond description.  You turn a corner in the dark and there he is.  You congeal into a bundle of inanimate fear.  You become the very soul of anesthesia.  But there is no escaping him.  It is your turn now.”


Here are four quotes from my Women in Pain petition, from women who have had their turn:


Quote:  “I have been living in so much pain for so long that I have forgotten what it is like to be normal.  I have been condescended to, belittled, lied to, and patronized by medical professionals for so long that I have forgotten what it was like to have dignity.”


Quote:  “If I am in complete, desperate pain, I know not to seek medical help until I can get my emotions under control or I will be told my crying is a symptom of emotional distress, not true physical need.”


Quote:  “I’ve had to endure going to the doctor month after month and coming home with the same horrendous pain, being told I am a drug seeker, it’s all in my head, and I must be going through menopause.”


Quote:  “Is it reasonable to allow me to be in so much pain at times that my only option is to stay in bed, rock myself, and cry?”


These quotes, along with thousands of other testimonials on my petition, meet the United Nations’ definition of “torture” which reads:  “Any act by which severe pain or suffering, whether physical or mental, is intentionally inflicted on a person.”


We are here today to discuss the gender bias and chronic undertreatment of women who suffer pain in this country.  This is a healthcare crisis and sanctioned torture that has been ignored for far too long.  Women are predisposed to all of the chronic pain diseases.  Studies support we feel pain more severely than men and we have a lower pain threshold.  However, when we women complain to our doctors about pain, we’re told it’s “hormonal” or “all in our heads.”  We are given sedatives or antidepressants.  Whereas, men are much more likely to be believed and to be given pain killers.  I want equal treatment for women who suffer pain in this country.  It is time our cries are heard and our names cleared.  We have committed no crime.  And “First, do no harm” must apply equally and without bias.


I am truly happy to announce February has been proclaimed “Women in Pain Awareness Month” in California.  Thank you, Senator Soto; thank you, Senator Figueroa; and thank you, Senator Ortiz, for sponsoring this resolution.  Thank you for working with me and believing in me in order to make this hearing possible.  It has been my privilege to work with the women in your offices:  Laura, Jackie, Liz, Carlota, and Nicole.  It has been my honor, ladies.  And to the Health and Human Services Committee and the Legislative Women’s Caucus, I am in awe.  Thank you all so very, very much.


I was 21 years old—more than two decades ago—when chronic pain became my new identity.  Up until that time I had a love affair with performing, and as a ballerina, actor, and singer, there was no doubt in my mind I would have a long career in the bright lights of show business.  Then, one day a simple hamstring tear at the ballet bar triggered the chronic pain disease reflex sympathetic dystrophy in my right leg.  The pain was so fierce it felt as though my leg had literally been doused with gasoline and lit on fire.  For the first thirteen-and-a-half years of my illness, my doctors told me my physical problems were all in my head, while the RSD spread throughout my entire body, leaving me bedridden and screaming in pain for nearly a decade.  


During these hellish years, my physicians told me I was suffering stage fright, had tendonitis from Mars, was enjoying the secondary gain I was receiving from my attentive partner.  One doctor suggested I shoot myself in the head.  When my arm folded into a permanent contracture, another told me that I was folding up my arm with my mind, just the way one levitates oneself.  All of this abuse was framed by a constant reminder that I was only a woman anyway; it didn’t matter.  Suffering the endless indignities from these men, for me, became worse than battling the RSD.  The disease was innocent; these doctors were not.


And there was a high price I paid for their harsh words and dismissal of my pain.  My chance for a cure is long gone, and I will continue to live every moment of my life in physical and emotional pain.  I lost my career as a performer.  That was my absolute passion.  Due to Social Security’s marriage penalty law, I cannot marry my partner of over 23 years—John—the only person who has stood by my side throughout this entire ordeal.  I lost my ability to have a child.  All of my family and friends abandoned me, and while some have returned to a point, my family will never again be whole.  And throughout all of these years of no hope, I constantly struggled with thoughts of suicide.  Taking my own life appeared my only way out—the ultimate painkiller.  Though I never for one moment believed that the pain was all in my head, I was filled with anger and a sense of violation which later turned to shame and guilt:  Somehow this was all my fault because I was undiagnosable.  Of one thing I was certain:  I was alone.


In 1995, my life took a dramatic turn.  I was at last diagnosed with RSD, and I began receiving excellent medical care.  I focused my energies on HMO reform, often telling my story to the media.  Specifically, when I mentioned being told my pain was not believed, I always received a wave of responses from women with like stories.  At first, this was a comfort to me as there was a pattern emerging.  I realized it wasn’t personal, and I was not alone after all.  After founding For Grace and reaching a broader audience, these stories from women in pain became a part of my everyday routine.  This was no longer a comfort.  These numbers were disturbing.  I heard from women with RSD and every other kind of pain I could imagine:  fibromyalgia, TMJ, pelvic pain, migraines, on and on.  They all told the same story of having their pain dismissed while being labeled “hysterical,” “malingerers,” and “drug seekers with ulterior motives.”  Many of these women were thrown into psyche wards and many took their own lives.


These collective experiences crystallized the day I read “The Girl Who Cried Pain:  A Bias Against Women in the Treatment of Pain.”  This report, written by Diane Hoffmann—who sits beside me today—perfectly articulated and exposed the unfolding tragedy of women’s pain being systemically discounted in this country.  The report confirmed my suspicion of an epidemic.  I was no longer comforted and long past disturbed.  I was now haunted and horrified, and I knew I must take action.


I drafted my Women in Pain petition and posted it online in the summer of 2002—a manifesto to rally around so women’s voices would at last be heard.  Today I am presenting to the media and this legislative body over 3,500 signatures and testimonials of support.  Women have spoken out loud and clear, and I believe we have only scratched the surface of an issue ready to boil over.


We live in extraordinary times.  Medical and scientific advances abound:  biogenetics, stem cell research, and gene therapy.  The previous White House administration proclaimed this decade “the decade of pain control and research.”  The eradication of suffering associated with chronic pain may be within reach over the next horizon or two, but I submit the greatest advance in pain management is well in our grasp right here, right now, and that is to simply to believe the woman when she reports she is in pain.


In the AMA’s continuing medical education program for primary care physicians, it states, “The best indicator of a patient’s pain experience is the patient’s self-report.”  Further, a study published in the Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences last summer found that “subjective response to painful stimuli is an accurate indication of pain experienced.”  Simply believe her; simply believe her.


To the physicians who continue the practice of contempt and disregard for the women you treat with pain, I request that you reassess your old, dated misconceptions, reexamine your faded preconceived cultural biases, and find in yourselves the humanity to treat all those in pain to the best of your ability as you swore you would do.  Undertreatment of pain is probably the most inhumane and unethical inaction, as well as the most obvious complete form of patient abandonment, a physician can practice.


I’d like to share one final quote from my petition.  Ironically, it’s from a woman named Grace.


Quote:  “The doctor who is supposed to be managing my pain today informed me, ‘There are some treatments, but they are tedious, so I guess I’m just going to let you dangle for now.’  My life is falling apart due to chronic pain.  I believe if I were a man, I wouldn’t be left ‘dangling.’  I’m on the verge of giving up altogether, and I don’t think this petition will help because women in pain aren’t deemed worth treating, and no amount of begging and petitioning can change the prejudice of doctors against us.”


When I first read this quote I was stunned and I was frightened.  I thought, What if Grace is right?  What if we women in pain continue to be witches burned at the stake?  Because if she is right, we are truly lost.


I look out at the faces that fill this room today; faces filled with passion and expectation; faces expressing initiative, commitment, and resolve.  And it is these faces, along with my absolute belief in the human spirit, that are my comfort and my hope that this torture will end.  Let’s do it for ourselves and for our sisters.  Let’s do it for our mothers and our daughters.  Together, let’s find our way back, and let’s do it for grace.


Thank you.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you, Cynthia.  You’re wonderful as always.


MS. TOUSSAINT:  Thank you.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  I have one question.  Based on your personal experience and having heard the stories of so many other women, how would you tell someone or teach someone or educate someone on how to accurately present their symptoms to a physician?  Or what should they say so that they might be able to stay away from some of these unnecessary comments?


MS. TOUSSAINT:  It’s a difficult question because my answer is just to simply report your pain as it is.  But because women tend to report their pain in an emotional way, we women tend to talk about how pain affects our everyday life; how pain affects our relationships with our husbands and our families.  As I did in my speech, we sometimes cry, and we are not believed as a result of that emotion.  Men are more stoic, and they report their pain in more catastrophic ways:  “I’m going to lose my job; I’m going to lose my house.”


So, that’s a difficult question to answer.  My answer is to simply report your pain the way it truly is.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  You mentioned that one of the women had said that she would have to go in and not cry; not be emotional.  Do you think that that’s a realistic way of being?  And maybe Dr. Hoffmann can also answer that because she seems to be reacting.  At the end you could kind of explain that because I think that that’s the one thing that many of us women, and especially in our roles when we meet so many in our district, that it’s something we need to communicate on what’s the best way to tell your story so that you are heard.


MS. TOUSSAINT:  Well, I suppose we could be trained.  I know Christine Miaskowski, who I’ve spoken with and who was quoted in the New York Times article as a result of Diane Hoffmann’s report, talked about actually training women with pain on how to not be emotional, how to not cry, how to report their pain so that they would have a better chance of being believed.  But you know what?  That’s not a good answer.  That’s not my answer.  But isn’t that sad that that’s what we have to change?


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you.


I also wanted to, before we went on, say that we’ve been joined by Senator Edward Vincent, Senator Sheila Kuehl—and all of you have met Senator Nell Soto—Senator Chesbro, and Assemblywoman Patricia Berg.  Thank you.


Ms. Kuehl?


SENATOR SHEILA KUEHL:  This is all sounding very familiar in a number of ways and in a number of issues that we’ve talked about and thought about over the past forty years.  It seems to me that some of the assumptions that, in this case, treating physicians make—or when we did a four-year study on gender bias in the courts and how the various judicial officers listened to testimony about, in our case, family law matters or domestic violence matters and really brought their own assumptions to it, not in a bias so much but a series of assumptions—in this instance, one might think that the assumption is that men do not show when they’re in pain; the assumption being that they’re much more stoic, and therefore, by the time they admit to pain it must really be bad.  The assumption also being that women are encouraged to express themselves, I don’t mean just emotionally, but to say “ouch” and there being no repercussions if someone says “ouch” if they’re a girl or a woman, and therefore, the assumption would be that we would more easily articulate pain and therefore, perhaps, at a lower threshold.  Those biases cannot be overcome by what the patient does.  Your recommendation to always tell the truth was the beginning point for domestic violence or sexual assault or any of the other issues that we talked about.  It’s really, “Just say it like it is.”  If enough of us say it, it will get along.  


But the issue of training in the community, I think, when we hear from practitioners as well, really has to go to unraveling, to some extent. . . . I understand it feels like a hostile bias, but I think an underlying assumption sometimes is not even apparent to the people who hold the impression.  You know, my dad would say “ouch” very readily, but people would assume that it must have been something terrible because a man wouldn’t complain.  My mother was the stoic who would never complain about anything, but that wasn’t the assumption about how things went around in society.


So, I think as we look at issues of what to do, often I think we need to look, as we have in the past, primarily to practitioners, to the AMA, finally saying “No, this is the way it is,” et cetera.


MS. TOUSSAINT:  The Office of Women’s Health.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Right.  Not to diminish the statements that you’ve made over the years, it was always women telling the truth that shown the light on these issues.


MS. TOUSSAINT:  Right.  It’s interesting because I talk with people every day with pain, and most usually RSD, and they always talk about being thrown into the psyche ward and being told they were crazy, and I always hear all of that.  I just spoke with a gentleman last week—Patrick—and this is very typical of when I speak with a gentleman with RSD.  He told his story but he left that part out, and I said, “Patrick, at any time during this epic experience, did a doctor not believe you?” and he said, “No.”  I hear that very often.  “That’s the one thing I can’t relate with.”  That’s what I hear from men.  I hear it all the time.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you.


Did you want to . . . 


SENATOR SOTO:  Yes.  I wanted to ask you, what finally convinced people that you were complaining to?  How did you finally get them to realize that you weren’t kidding, that you were really in pain?  What finally did you do?


MS. TOUSSAINT:  I don’t believe that they really thought I was crazy.  There were hints, like when a doctor said to me, “I don’t understand why you don’t take the psychologically induced diagnosis.  Chances are in ten years or so they’ll tell you what it really is.”  Things like that.  So, I didn’t think they really thought I was marked with a scarlet letter “C” for crazy.  


Honestly, I got out of my HMO, and I got a really good pain management.  I got into a multidisciplinary pain clinic, which is so important because pain is very complicated.  After fifteen years of RSD, I needed excellent medical care; I needed a psychologist to help me.  I mean, I’d been thinking about suicide for ten years.  Everyone with pain needs psychological care, psychological help.  I needed physical therapy to slowly unfold me.  I was in a fetal position when I arrived on a gurney at that doctor’s office.  So, it was that multidisciplinary clinic that helped me.  Last I heard, 8 to 10 percent of people who suffer pain in this country get to a multidisciplinary pain clinic.  That has to change, and that’s going to be education.  We need many more multidisciplinary pain clinics.


And I also want to mention that it’s not just women; it’s all underserved populations.  Many of these people are not receiving their basic healthcare needs, let alone pain management.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you.  


I’m really looking forward to hearing from Professor Hoffmann.


Good afternoon.  Thank you for joining us.


PROFESSOR DIANE HOFFMANN:  You’re welcome.


Madam Chair and members of the committee, I want to thank you for inviting me to speak to you today on this important topic.  I think it is a topic that deserves a great deal more focus and discussion.


My own interest in this topic stems from a study I undertook about four years ago which resulted in the publication of the article, “The Girl Who Cried Pain:  A Bias Against Women in the Treatment of Pain.”  That article was subsequently read by a New York Times reporter and published in a special section on women’s health.  It was the basis for an article that appeared in the Times, and that was entitled, “Hurting More, Helped Less?  When it Comes to Enduring Pain, Women Have Cause for Complaint.”  For me, it was a very heady experience to be quoted in the Times, but clearly, this was an issue that struck a popular chord.


You may be wondering why a law professor would write about this issue and what expertise I have to address it.  I don’t have personal experience with this issue.  I come to it as an academic.  Since 1997, I’ve been part of a group of academics in law and the social sciences that have been funded by the Mayday Foundation out of New York to look at legal, financial, and policy obstacles for the adequate treatment of pain.  In that process I have looked at insurance barriers to the treatment of pain, to legal sanctions for the prescribing of opioids, to fraud and abuse concerns about the providing of hospice services to patients.  The article and the research on gender bias in the treatment of pain was somewhat of a departure for me from some of my traditional legal scholarship.  But as I had been doing the research for these other studies, I came across these articles indicating that women may have been undertreated for pain as compared to men.  I was very intrigued by some of this research, so I wanted to look at this more closely.  So, I undertook this.


I also came at it probably more from a justice perspective than a scientific one, but my coauthor, Dr. Anita Tarzian (who has a clinical and a nurse background) and I, together, looked at the clinical and scientific literature, to start with, regarding women’s experience and men’s experience of pain.  In fact, we started out asking a number of questions.  First, whether men and women experience pain similarly or differently; second, whether they respond to pain or pain medications similarly or differently; third, how women are treated for their pain as compared to men and, if there is a difference in treatment, whether that is justified by the first two findings.  


I expect that some of the subsequent speakers with medical backgrounds may be better able to address some of the scientific and biological differences on how men and women experience pain.  Though I’ll touch on that, I’m going to focus most of my comments on differences in treatment between men and women in the literature and what some of the speculations are of why that exists and then maybe suggest some ways in which we might improve pain treatment for women who experience persistent pain.


Before I begin, however, I want to reiterate, actually, some of the remarks you made, Senator Figueroa, at the beginning regarding this issue.  Undertreatment of women for pain is part of a much larger problem in this country of undertreatment of pain more generally of both women and men, and reasons for undertreatment of pain have been linked to a number of causes.  For example, physicians are poorly educated about pain treatment and about the use of opioids, both in medical school and after they begin practicing.  Second, threats of legal sanctions and actions deter providers from prescribing controlled substances, and those sanctions include fear of malpractice suits, fear of licensing revocation or suspension by state medical boards, as well as criminal prosecutions.  Third, patients and physicians in some cases worry about tolerance, physical dependence, and addiction to pain and sometimes misunderstand the differences between those three things.  And lastly, the cost and lack of insurance coverage may be a barrier to patients who need long-term pain treatment that may be very costly and may require multiple modalities.


I mention these up front because any suggestions as to how we might improve the treatment of pain for women may come from considering how we might improve treatment across the board for both women and men.


But going back to the undertreatment of women for pain, when we looked at the scientific literature regarding whether men and women experience pain differently or similarly, we found that the research findings included the following, and this is very consistent in the studies that have been done.


First, women reported more severe levels of pain, more frequent pain, and pain of longer duration than men.  Women are more likely than men to report migraines and chronic tension headaches, facial pain, musculoskeletal pain, and pain from osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis, and fibromyalgia.  And for laboratory-induced pain, females as compared to males had lower pain thresholds, higher pain ratings, and less tolerance of pain.


In terms of what might explain these differences, responses include biological differences as well as psychological and cultural factors.  In terms of culture, there may be an issue of gender differences in reporting of pain.  That needs to be taken into account here.  In our society—we’ve already mentioned this—men are conditioned to be strong and not to show their vulnerability.  Male pain research participants have reported they felt an obligation to display stoicism in response to pain.  And they have also been more likely to report less pain to a female researcher than a male researcher.  But this reason is, I think, insufficient to explain the majority of differences observed.


Now, there’s been some study really fairly recently, in the last 10 to 15 years, focusing on these biological differences, and the literature includes three factors that may explain some of the differences in how men and women experience pain from a physiological perspective.  These include the influence of reproductive hormones in women, dissimilarities between men and women, and the activation of stress-induced analgesia.  To the extent you produce your own analgesia, there have been differences shown between men and women in response to stressful things like pain.  And then, sex-based differences in the brain and central nervous system.  


Some have noted that given the significant differences in physiological pain mechanisms, it’s remarkable that the differences that men and women report in pain experience is not greater than it is.  They have begun to speculate the differences between the sexes in the brain create a mediating effect on pain in women or that more than physiological differences are at work.  They suggest the differences may be due to differences in coping and expression.  More recently, I think, the consensus is that it’s a combination of biology, coping, and expression.


As regards treatment of women for pain, the literature suggests not only that men and women communicate differently to healthcare providers about their pain—again, we’ve looked at that—but that healthcare providers may respond differently to women.  In her review of the literature, Dr. Christine Miaskowski reported on numerous studies that identified such differences in response and treatment.  These studies covered different types of pain and different settings.  For example, Calderone did a study of postoperative coronary artery bypass graft surgery in men and women and found that men received narcotics more often than female patients, although female patients received sedatives more often, suggesting that female patients were more often perceived as anxious rather than in pain.  This was one of the studies that really intrigued me to look further into this issue.


An early study by Beyer examining postoperative pain in children found that significantly more codeine was given to boys than girls and that girls were more likely to be given acetaminophen than boys.


In a 1994 study—and this is a very significant study because it included over 1,300 outpatients with metastatic cancer—Cleeland and his colleagues found that of the 42 percent of participants in this study who were not adequately treated for their pain—so, 42 percent were not adequately treated—women were one-and-a-half times more likely than men to be undertreated.


In addition to the actual differences in treatment, studies have also shown differences in healthcare providers’ perceptions of men’s and women’s experiences of pain.  And this is not only physicians, it’s nurses as well.  One studied administered to over 300 nurses found that more nurses felt that women as compared to men were less sensitive to pain, more tolerant of pain, and less distressed as a result of pain, which is exactly the opposite of what the literature has found.


Now, what accounts for these differences in treatment is more a matter of conjecture than any conclusive or definitive data.  Some have speculated that it is a result of the belief that women have a higher natural capacity to endure pain, and some link that to their role in childbearing.  Others say that women have better coping mechanisms for dealing with pain.  And there is some evidence in the literature with respect to that, that supports that.  Alternatively, or in addition—and this, I think, is one of the more troublesome points—some speculate that less credibility is given to women’s reports of pain than those of men.  The literature indicates that healthcare providers tend to discount women’s reports of pain as emotional and in their head and therefore not real.  This tendency is likely exacerbated by the fact that there is no good objective measure for whether someone is in pain and how much pain they are experiencing.  Healthcare providers must rely on their subjective reports.


Given that these differences in treatment do not appear to be based on any biological differences in pain experienced—in fact, from the literature you might expect to see women more aggressively treated for their pain—it appears that there may be some bias working against women in the treatment of pain.  


I want to say as a caveat that we didn’t find a lot of literature on this when we did our study, but there is some subsequent literature looking at how men and women respond to opioids and that there is some research on this area indicating that for some kinds of opioids, women may have a greater analgesic effect than men.  So, that is something that needs to be looked at more closely and taken into account.


In terms of how we might address the issue of undertreatment of women for pain, I think there’s a number of possible approaches.  As I said earlier, one would be to improve pain treatment across the board, and certainly both women and men will benefit from that.


Because one of the primary reasons for undertreatment of pain is lack of education and knowledge on the part of physicians about pain treatment, increasing awareness of pain and knowledge about pain treatment in medical school needs to be, I think, considered, as well as continuing medical education of physicians once they are in practice.  Now, I know California has already taken a leadership role here.  The Legislature has already passed a requirement requiring physicians to receive continuing medical education on pain treatment and treatment of dying and terminally ill patients; so, they are ahead of the game, I think, it seems to me, on this.  But such a course could also include more information about gender differences and the experience of pain and the implications for patients of differential treatment.


A second impediment to adequate pain treatment, as I mentioned, is the fear of legal sanctions of overprescribing of opioid analgesics.  Although state medical boards have, in fact, sanctioned physicians for—and I put this in quotes—“overprescribing” of opioids, I recently finished a national study of state medical boards, looking at how they respond to complaints about inadequate treatment of pain or overprescribing of opioids.  A lot of them are, I think, changing the way they look at this issue, establishing guidelines and, in a few cases, actually starting to sanction physicians who are undertreating pain.  You may or may not know that California is now the second state that has actually sanctioned a physician through the medical board for undertreatment of pain, and that just happened in the last five or six weeks.


Another aspect of this fear of legal sanctions that deserves attention, that may be even more chilling than concerns about licensure, is criminal repercussions.  Physicians who are prescribing large dosages of opioids, even if they are attempting to treat chronic pain patients, may be targets of federal and state prosecutors.  There’s also a California example here:  the case of Dr. Frank Fisher from Redding, California.


Lastly, an area that might be considered is insurance coverage and how that might be improved to ensure that patients have access to pain experts, unnecessary pain treatment, and medications.  Some states have passed laws addressing this problem.  


I suspect there are a  number of other approaches that might be explored as well.  And again, I congratulate you, Madam Chair, for convening this hearing to begin this exploration.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you.


A couple of questions, Ms. Hoffmann.  Since your research has been out there the last three years, has there been a change of how women have been treated, or has there been any discussion from the medical community?


PROFESSOR HOFFMANN:  Well, I think that it’s hard to know whether there’s been a change.  I mean, that would require a major research effort to see if there has been.  Certainly, there’s been, I think, more attention to the issue in terms of press regarding it and more articles.  There has continued to be research in the biological area looking at, as I mentioned, some of the things about different responses to analgesia, about differences with respect to the brain.  There has been more research about stress-induced analgesia that we produce.  There’ve been all these kind of policy advances from state medical boards, to states continuing to pass intractable pain laws and those kinds of things.  So, there is increasing attention given to this issue which I think has led to more education and awareness.


At the same time that we’ve moved forward with this awareness, we also have had with, I think, the drug OxyContin a focus on concerns about drug diversion and abuse.  So, to the extent that we may have taken two steps forward, we may also have taken a step backward.  Again, this is often an issue of balance and trying to look at drug diversion and therapeutic purposes.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  How does the situation of the highly publicized Rush Limbaugh case, in terms of his addiction to pain killers, fall into place?  Does this type of situation take us two steps back?


PROFESSOR HOFFMANN:  I think it’s more likely to take us back rather than forward.  This has to do with the issue, in part, that I mentioned about confusion.  I don’t know all the details of the Rush Limbaugh case, but my sense is, there’s a lot of concerns about addiction of these pain medications.  People need to understand the difference between drug dependence and addiction, and to the extent that there’s confusion about that, opiates often may lead to some kind of dependence, and that is not the same as an aberrant behavior that’s associated with addiction.  Oftentimes that doesn’t get reported in the literature, and oftentimes physicians don’t even understand that.  So, when they’re interviewed or talking about it, they may confuse that issue, which I think is problematic.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Senator Chesbro.


SENATOR WES CHESBRO:  Let me ask a question and then give a couple of examples of what I’m talking about and see if you can respond or it rings true to you.


To what extent do you think that the problem with pain is part of a larger syndrome relative to a bias in medical professionals not listening to women in a variety of ways?  For example, I’ve read that there’ve been studies about the difference in the way heart disease treatment has been provided to women.  


And then, I have—and I don’t want to be very specific here; my wife will kill me—but she’s got MS (I can say that), and she’s had a variety of experiences with some really great physicians and some who are not so great, but she tells me stories about the variety of responses.  There are some physicians who, when she comes to see them—and I actually accompanied her one time because it was hard for me to believe; I’ll confess I was kind of shocked by her relaying of this so I accompanied her—but basically who would spend the entire visit talking at her and never asking her about her experience or trying to gather information from her about what exactly the issues were, and that came as a real shock to me because I’d never experienced that.


So, anyway, I just wonder whether or not there’s a broader issue.  And I don’t mean to diminish the importance of this in relation to pain.  This is very educational to me.  But whether or not you think there’s a broader issue that might affect a variety of different health issues.


PROFESSOR HOFFMANN:  Yes, I think you’re absolutely right.  I refer in my article, too, there was a task force of the AMA on gender disparities and clinical decision making that looked much more broadly at gender differences and physician diagnosis and treatment on a variety of issues.  So, it does happen.  Clearly, heart disease and treatment is one of the areas.


I also refer to a study with respect to that and women being believed—how physicians responded to women who complained of chest pain versus men.  First of all, they were more likely to hospitalize men who complained of chest pain than women, and then, even the outpatients should have been probably referred for a stress test.  They were less likely to have been if they were women.


But I think the problem is exacerbated in the area of pain because it is subjective.  If you could test it, the women could prove that they had a disease or something that was causing their pain, but if there’s nothing objective that they can look at other than the credibility of the reporter and what they’re saying, it becomes more easy to discount somebody’s reports.  So, it is, I think, a larger issue.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Senator Soto?


SENATOR SOTO:  I just wondered, in your experience, do women doctors treat patients a little bit differently than male doctors in the case of pain?


PROFESSOR HOFFMANN:  I tried to look at that literature to see if there were studies of that.  I did not find much in the way that was specific to pain, but there have been studies that have shown women physicians tend to spend more time with their patients, tend to solicit more information from them.  That would seem to make it, in terms of the interaction about pain, would make them potentially more effective in getting at the kind of issues that concerned women.  But I did not find anything that was specific to gender differences of physicians in the treatment of pain.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Senator Kuehl?


SENATOR KUEHL:  Professor Hoffman, have there been either experiments or decisions that have become law—I’m thinking primarily of legislation—to enact policies in any state to begin to deal with some of this?  Even in the larger sense, in terms of palliative care or in a patient’s bill of rights or in Maryland in the decision act that you worked on, are there examples?  Is there a model code or anything?


PROFESSOR HOFFMANN:  With respect specifically to undertreatment of women?


SENATOR KUEHL:  Not necessarily.  I think there’ve been a number of issues around gender bias.  Although, I don’t know in medical terms whether there’s been sufficient. . . . you know, you just say “The state’s against gender bias,” and that’s kind of what we do with everything:  “You’re not supposed to do that.”  And then, the enforcement is kind of like, “Oh, that’s the administrative branch.”  But I’m thinking more in terms of a model code perhaps relating to pain or the issues related to pain and medicine; if there’s been any enactment.  I mean, we don’t make laws about absolutely everything, or we make laws about absolutely everything minus about two.


PROFESSOR HOFFMANN:  There have been a number of laws passed by different states, but I can’t think of something that’s comprehensive or gender related.  There are things that have touched on insurance.  California has done the continuing medical education requirement.  California does have a Patients’ Bill of Rights, which says there is a right to adequate treatment of their pain.  So, there are things like that.  There are these intractable pain statutes that are supposed to provide a safe haven for physicians who are prescribing opioids.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Well, I’d be interested in anything in addition.

PROFESSOR HOFFMANN:  There’s the Wisconsin pain and policy center that has a Web site that basically keeps track of all pain legislation enacted by every state.  So, there is an inventory that has been established to look at that.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I don’t know what the issue is on gender bias and other types of biases in relation to the Patients’ Bill of Rights.  I’m assuming that we’ve made those dovetail, but maybe that’s something we’d want to look at, to make certain that in the specific area where patients have specific rights, we want to introduce or incorporate the idea of a lack of bias or cultural sensitivity.  We certainly have it in a number of other areas.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  We might want to revisit it to make sure it is.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Yes.  It’s been a while since we’ve tinkered with it, right?


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Do you have another question?  It’s interesting, isn’t it?


SENATOR SOTO:  Yes, it is.  Well, because I’ve experienced it so much and it’s coming out now.  


As a result of these studies that have currently been distributed to medical schools, could we require them to be distributed—did somebody already ask this?—all over in some kind of a booklet, to be put into doctors’ offices or wherever, to make people more aware?  Sometimes maybe people do complain of pain when they’re not really sick, but I don’t think anybody would start complaining of pain if they really didn’t have it.  It seems to me like it would be something that would be hard to do—to fake that.  But is there any kind of a plan or study being done that we could put it into print and come out with some sort of informational booklet to have distributed to doctors’ offices or even clinics or some of these neighborhood clinics that help people that are at the poverty level to let them know, to give them some kind of hope, that “Listen, your pain may be real”?  Because most of the time I have found that it’s the women that are very, very poor that don’t get the attention because they think that it may be imagined or not real that they’re in pain and maybe because they want the attention or they don’t have the money that they’re asking for some kind of attention and that the result of their complaint may be looked at as if it’s some way to get attention to their financial situation.  Am I making myself clear?


PROFESSOR HOFFMANN:  That’s a long question.


SENATOR SOTO:  Well, maybe it’s not a question.  Maybe it’s a comment.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Yes, I think it was.


SENATOR SOTO:  It may be prevalent, too, in the underserved communities.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  As Cynthia pointed out, it wasn’t just women, it was underserved communities.  So, you were very accurate to have picked up on that.


MS. TOUSSAINT:  I just don’t believe that women or men say that they’re in the kind of pain that I’m talking about unless it’s true.  I’ve heard of fictitious RSD.  I’ve heard that actually less than one percent of people who say that they’re in pain are lying and trying to get attention.  It’s such a small percentage of the people who are in pain, so I suggest that we believe everyone who says they’re in pain, and maybe we’ll help the person who needs attention, that one percent.  I’m okay with that.  Let’s help the people that are suffering and thinking about suicide.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Are the cases of RSD growing?  I remember when you and I first met I was amazed at the numbers.  Is that continuing to grow?  And is it a larger proportion being women over men?  Could you shed some light on that, on that specific disease and how is it going to compare to other diseases?


MS. TOUSSAINT:  Well, RSD sufferers are many more women than men.  The studies say it’s 75 percent women.  I believe it’s much higher because I speak to people every day with RSD, and I get e-mails from them.  I would say 99 percent of those e-mails are from women.  Usually, the one from the man is he’s talking about his wife who has RSD.  So, I rarely hear from a man.  When I get a man on the phone, it’s like “Wow, I really want to talk to you.  I’m really interested.  I got a man.”


As far as the numbers of people with RSD growing, because we are raising awareness now, we’re learning that more people have RSD than we thought.  We’re finding that a lot of children have RSD.  I have nine-year-olds writing to me, twelve-year-olds writing to me, saying that they weren’t believed, that they’re in wheelchairs.  I’m thinking of one little girl who went to school for two years in a wheelchair and she wasn’t believed.  These are little girls really suffering, being told that it’s all in their head.  So, the numbers right now are between 1.5 and 6 million people in this country.  I think 6 million is low because most of us aren’t diagnosed.  But if you take the 1.5 number, that’s more people than those with breast cancer, HIV/AIDS and MS combined.  It isn’t even close.


When I do media, even local media in Los Angeles, I can get a hundred phone calls from people with RSD.  This is not rare.  It just suffers from a great lack of awareness.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Professor, Ms. Toussaint, thank you very much for joining us.  I’m sure all of us have a hundred other questions we can ask you, but we’re really looking forward to the next panel.  Thank you.


Our second panel of witnesses consist of individuals who will provide us with the patient and advocacy perspective of gender-based biases and treatment of pain, as well as background on recent actions taken in California to improve treatment for chronic pain patients.  We have Ms. Susan Shinagawa and Maggie Buckley and Dr. Kathryn Padgett.  Please come forward at this time.


Ms. Shinagawa, you’re first.  Thank you for joining us, and please state your name into the mike, before you make your presentation, for the records.


MS. SUSAN MATSUKO SHINAGAWA:  My name is Susan Matsuko Shinagawa.


Madam Chair, Madam Co-Chair, and distinguished members of the Senate Committee on Health and Human Services and the Legislative Women’s Caucus and special guests.  Good afternoon and thank you for inviting me here today to share my experiences with you as a cancer survivor and a chronic pain patient.


My name is Susan Matsuko Shinagawa, and I am a Sansei (third-generation Japanese American).  I was born in Oakland, California, and grew up in Richmond, and since 1987 I’ve been in San Diego, where I live with my husband and our two dogs.


When I was 16 years old, my father rushed me to the emergency room after I suffered a sudden attack of coccydynia (pain in my tailbone) resulting from a water ski accident that I had had years earlier.  Once at the ER we sat patiently waiting for over two hours.  The pain was excruciating but I made no sounds; just tears streaming down my face.  You see, for as long as I can remember, my wonderful and very well-meaning parents taught my three brothers and I to “Gaman.”  Gaman means not to burden others with our problems and to endure pain in silent stoicism.  They were good teachers, and I was a good student.  So, we sat there silently for over two hours until finally, much to my astonishment, my father said to me, “I don’t want you to Gaman any more.  I don’t want you to hold back.  I want you to cry out and let them know you are in pain.”  An ER physician finally came to examine me not long after I cried out, but I had to have permission to do so.


I’m a two-time primary and one-time recurrent cancer survival, and for the past seven years I’ve been medically disabled with chronic pain, the lasting legacy of my recurrent diagnosis of cancer.  I receive opioid medication 24 hours a day through a pump that’s been planted in my abdomen.  


For the past seven years notwithstanding, I’ve always considered myself to be relatively healthy.  Having said that, pain has been a part of my life odyssey since early childhood; although, I’ve never let illness or pain get in the way of what I wanted or needed to accomplish.  My written comments, which I’ve provided, give you my complete story in much greater detail, but I’m going to share with you a few specific incidences which I believe are primary examples of gender bias against me as a young woman with pain and the overwhelming impact they’ve had on my life.


I started my menses when I was ten years old and in the fifth grade, and for the first twelve months my periods were relatively mild, but at the age of eleven, I wiped out and hit my tailbone on the tip of a ski during that water ski accident I just talked about.  I think anyone who’s ever experienced trauma to the coccyx knows that this type of pain is agonizing.  I don’t know whether is was causable, but by the age of thirteen I was experiencing pretty severe symptoms of dysmenorrhoea, which is menstrual pain.  By the time I was in high school, this included severe pelvic cramping, with the pain radiating down both thighs, beginning two to three days before my actual periods, which lasted eight to nine days, with heavy blood flow and accompanied by explosive diarrhea.  


At the same time, as a result of my skiing accident, I was also suffering from intermittent sudden acute onset of my coccyx pain that would literally render me paralyzed for several minutes, and this was followed by horrific pain that could last up to hours.  That pain was always worse just before and during my periods, but it could just as easily be triggered by a bowel movement, sitting, standing, walking, laying down, rolling over, laughing, or sneezing.  These pain episodes occurred at least once or twice a week.  When I was about fourteen years old, my mother took me to see a gynecologist, and he recommended that I take aspirin.  When that didn’t work, he finally recommended to my parents that I be put on birth control pills, which my parents had to think about for a while but they finally consented.  The pill certainly helped to regulate the duration and intensity of my periods, but it did nothing to touch the pain.


Over a period of approximately fifteen years, I saw numerous physicians in multiple medical settings regarding both the dysmenorrhoea and coccydynia.  The only diagnostic test the doctors ever performed was either a pelvic exam or a rectal exam.  Other than serving as a trigger for more pain in my coccyx, these tests revealed nothing.  I recall while still in high school a doctor telling me that if I really wanted to, I could make the pain go away.  That was the first time but certainly not the last time a doctor would tell me that my pain wasn’t real.


In my late teens, an emergency room physician ordered an x-ray exam, the first such test that had been ordered since I’d been suffering with this pain, which he explained revealed an arthritic-like condition in my tailbone.  He said that nothing could be done to correct the problem; I’d just have to learn how to live with it.  So, for years, everywhere I went I had two constant companions:  a donut-shaped pillow on which I sat and codeine tablets, which he prescribed for me, which I’d take upon the first sign of pain.


In August of 1981 I was twenty-four years old.  I’d just moved back from Washington, D.C., where I was working, to San Francisco.  Back in San Francisco I began experiencing sharp, stabbing pelvic pains which seemed to be unassociated with my menstrual cycle.  As these pains grew in intensity, they nearly always trigged my coccyx pain.  The combination of these pains would render me completely incapacitated for hours at a time.  Over a two-year period, I saw a gynecologist at San Francisco’s Kaiser Hospital six or eight visits, probably, in the first six months.  During each visit he would do the same thing:  He’d conduct a pelvic exam, and then he would tell me that there was no physical reason for my pain.  He prescribed three different pain medications for me in succession; none of which worked.  


After six months had passed, when I came to visit him again because of another pain episode, he sat me down, took no exam, but he simply lectured me and told me that there was no medical reason for my pain.  He said despite having his prescribed increasingly more powerful pain medications, I showed no signs of improvement.  Therefore, it clearly must be that I had an ulterior motive for wanting this pain.  He lectured me as I sat in his office.  It was obvious I was in pain:  tears were rolling down my checks.  But back then I didn’t know anything about being an informed healthcare consumer, so it never occurred to me that he’d arrived at this conclusion without ever ordering a pelvic ultrasound or any other diagnostic test that could have been informative.  Not knowing any better, I left his office the same way I had arrived:  in pain and in tears.  Despite his lecture, I continued to see him over the next eighteen months in the acute clinic.  It was always the same routine and always the same outcome.


One day I had the good fortune of suffering a combined pelvic and coccyx pain attack while I was at work, collapsing to the floor as my boss worked in the adjacent office.  As I waited for a ride to pick me up at work to take me to Kaiser to see my gynecologist, my boss, who was then and still is now the chair of anesthesia at UC San Francisco School of Medicine, placed a call to the chair of UCSF Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, and before I left he told me that the chair of OB/GYN at UCSF would be waiting for me as soon as I returned from Kaiser.  So, I went to Kaiser, saw my doctor.  He did a pelvic exam; told me there was nothing wrong with me.  


Less than an hour later, I showed up at the chair of OB/GYN’s office in San Francisco who began to perform a pelvic exam, and within seconds he said to me, “You have a cyst the size of a grapefruit on your right ovary.”  Continuing on he found that I had a second cyst the size of a lemon on my left ovary and several other cysts.  I explained to him what I had gone through over the past thirteen years, and he told me that not only were these cysts most likely the cause of my pelvic pain, but it was also highly likely that the cysts were creating pressure on my coccyx because of their size, thereby triggering my coccydynia—my coccyx pain—which he believed was probably caused by my water skiing accident.  He further explained that I would require surgery to remove the cysts as well as to ascertain their etiology and pathology.  Without my asking, he graciously called his counterpart at Kaiser, and I was immediately reassigned to another doctor.


Surgery revealed widespread endometriosis throughout my entire pelvic region with damage to my fallopian tubes so severe that they were both clubbed shut.  Thus, in the two years during which my Kaiser gynecologist cavalierly dismissed my pain, he also allowed my endometriosis to advance unchecked, rendering me infertile.  Despite seven subsequent surgical procedures, my dream to give birth to a family was denied forever.


By 1991 I was living and working in San Diego.  I had taken a breast self-exam workshop in January of that year, and after learning that my early onset of menses and not having any children by the age of thirty had increased my breast cancer risk, I began to practice breast self-exam every month.  Five months later I found a prominent lump in my right breast during routine BSE.  After watching it through two menstrual cycles, I asked an oncologist to look at it.  She wasn’t overly concerned but since the lump was palpable—since she could feel it—she ordered a STAT mammogram, and that was negative.  The diagnostic radiologist ordered a sonogram which showed that the lump was a solid mass, so she in turn referred me to a surgical oncologist who, after taking my medical history, reviewing the films and examining my breasts, explained to me that I had “lumpy breasts” and that vitamin E tablets and lowering my intake of caffeine would resolve this.  I explained to him that I didn’t think caffeine had anything to do with it, because back then I didn’t drink coffee, tea, or sodas; I didn’t take aspirin; and I don’t like chocolate.  So, thereby I didn’t think that caffeine had much to do with my lumpy breasts, and I told him I was about to take a personal leave of absence and give up my medical insurance and wouldn’t he please do a biopsy.  He explained to me:  “Susan, I see thousands of young women like you every year.  You’re too young to have cancer.  You have no family history of cancer.  Besides, Asian women don’t get breast cancer.  You’ll just have to trust me.  You do not have breast cancer, and I absolutely refuse to perform a biopsy.”


I inquired with other medical professionals, explaining that I believed the lump had continued to grow and, also, that it was painful to the touch.  Unfortunately, in 1991 it was a widely held medical belief that breast cancer doesn’t hurt.  As a result, no one believed that I could possibly have breast cancer, and any concern I continued to express was passed by as paranoia.


Within the month I took my personal leave of absence, but the pain associated with my breast lump kept it in the forefront of my mind, so I sought a second opinion, already knowing that I wouldn’t take “no” for an answer.  I went in and politely demanded a biopsy and the surgeon obliged.  On October 10th, 1991, it was the first time, but not the last time, a doctor would tell me, “I’m sorry, Susan, but you have breast cancer.”  I was thirty-four years old.


I got through surgery and chemotherapy just fine and was convinced that cancer was a part of my past, but silly me, what did I know?  Five years later I was diagnosed with recurrent breast cancer, appearing in my cerebral spinal fluid.  Having been given a prognosis of only ten months to live, my husband and I sought several additional expert opinions.  More times than not, those experts would talk directly to my husband about me in my presence as if I wasn’t even there.  To my husband’s credit, he always admonished them to speak directly to me.


Initially I was treated with high-dose steroids, resulting in a 75-pound weight gain.  Then, in March of 1997, I began intrathecal chemotherapy administered through a catheter that was surgically implanted in my brain, plus radiation therapy directly to my lumbar spine.  One week after completing radiation, although still undergoing chemotherapy, I developed an intense headache.  After several hours, my husband drove me to the emergency room, and by the time we arrived there I was delirious.  They put me in a room right away so that I could lay down, but despite my obvious suffering and pleading, I was denied all pain medication.  The resident physician told my husband that he had ordered a head CT scan and didn’t want the medication to mask my pain or relieve any pressure that might be identified during the scan.  After an attending physician reported to the ER hours later, we learned that the effects of morphine are easily reversed.  So, finally, after waiting in the ER for 12 hours, I was given IV morphine.  Finally, I was admitted to the hospital for eight days and treated for bacterial meningitis, most likely due to an infection caused by my chemotherapy.


But the end of June 1997, I completed all my radiation and chemotherapy for my recurrent diagnosis, but I still suffered from chronic nausea and vomiting, severe headaches, and the lumbar pain.  That’s when I was finally referred to Dr. Mark Wallace, director of the UCSD Center for Pain and Palliative Medicine on June 1st, 1997.  He was the first physician I had met since my recurrent diagnosis who treated me like a person instead of a case.  He told me that he wouldn’t give up on my pain until it was gone or at least was under control.  Sadly, my pain has been very stubborn, but true to his word, Dr. Wallace has not given up on me.


The lasting legacy of my recurrent cancer diagnosis has been chronic lumbar pain so severe that it has rendered me disabled.  Having been on disability since December 1996, after completing all my treatment I intentionally immersed myself into cancer advocacy activities in order to keep my mind sharp and my spirits high.  Desiring to overcome the myths and fallacies surrounding chronic pain, in 2000 I added pain management and education to my list of national advocacy activities.  I try my best to live as normal and productive a life as possible, but despite ongoing numerous pain treatment regimens, including four clinical trials, adequate pain relief continues to elude me, and the quality of my life has eroded to the point that my ability to maintain both my morale and my mental acuity is also wearing away.


Over the past year I’ve been diagnosed with clinical depression resulting from my chronic pain.  I’m in psychotherapy and am being treated with antidepressant medication by a psychiatrist, not to treat my “imaginary” pain but to help me deal with my real pain.  They’re all amazed that I was able to be as functional and productive as I had been for the preceding six years without coming to depression, as the vast majority of chronic pain patients will.  


I knew I had to come here today to share with you my frustrations as well as my hopes.  There’ve been far too many times that I felt my medical concerns were being dismissed solely because I am a woman.  Being a young woman certainly doesn’t help things.  On many of those occasions, being an Asian woman seemed to make matters even worse.  And during the period of my 75-pound steroid-induced weight gain, the callousness and ignorance exhibited by the medical profession and the public at large seemed only to be surpassed by the level of my apparent invisibility.  But for the few months around the time of my recurrence that I was wheelchair bound, my status as a nonperson really took the cake.  


In my experience, the vast majority of physicians who exhibit gender bias are male, although a comparatively smaller number of female physicians are equally unenlightened.  Fortunately, there are a lot of good, decent doctors out there, like Dr. Wallace (my pain physician).  Had it not been for Dr. Wallace and his incredible dedicated team of professionals who refused to give up on me, I would have given up a long time ago.  We need more doctors like Dr. Wallace, and we need more pain management programs in hospitals all across our state.  We need programs and funding to train culturally competent pain management specialists, to educate medical providers who are not pain specialists about pain and pain control regimens, and to conduct more research on pain pathways and treating pain effectively.  


We need programs and funding for culturally competent research to examine the intended and unintended biases again women who present with pain, as well as to examine the institutional, professional, and cultural barriers that preclude appropriate and timely pain management for women, people of color, and individuals living in poverty.  Further, we need programs and funding for research to examine culturally relevant interventions to overcome these barriers.  


We need programs and funding for the recruitment and retention of more female pain specialists as well as those who come from communities of color and poverty, critical to addressing disparities in pain diagnosis and treatment.  


We need to ensure that teaching curricula and all medical specialties in each of California’s academic medical centers and their associated community hospitals include a series of required courses on pain management, including gender and cultural biases in the diagnosis of pain and the delivery of pain control.  


We also need to ensure that our State Medical Board requires all medical professionals to complete continuing medical education or continuing education credits in pain control and management, including gender and cultural biases in the diagnosis and delivery of same to maintain their California medical licensures.


Before any of my stated recommendations can be successfully implemented and accomplished, there must be full disclosure and acknowledgement at the highest levels that both gender and cultural biases, intended or unintended, in the diagnosis and treatment of pain exists within our state, followed by a statewide educational campaign to expose the myths and reinforce the realities about pain and pain management.  We need look no further than right here in Sacramento, at California’s own highly successful and award-winning anti-smoking/anti-tobacco campaign developed by the Department of Health Services’ Tobacco Control Section.  The innovative employment of a social norms change approach to indirectly influence our citizenry by creating an atmosphere in which tobacco is less desirable in both current and potential future smokers can be adapted and modified to address the critical problem of gender and cultural bias in the diagnosis and treatment of pain as well as in other health disparity arenas.  This must be delivered throughout all of California’s diverse communities through cultural, gender, and age-appropriate messages and messengers.


One thing we can do immediately is to include a course on being an informed healthcare consumer as part of our public schools’ health curricula so that boys and girls, young women and young men will know how to best communicate with their healthcare providers and, more importantly, so that they will understand that they have a right to question any diagnoses given to them before any diagnostic tests are ever performed, thereby ensuring a more informed, better educated, and a healthier California citizenry.


I believe chronic pain is a silent epidemic.  As the past chair of the Intercultural Cancer Council, I would be remiss if I didn’t mention that this is particularly true for communities of color and poverty, especially those cultures in which stoicism is a top family value, as it is in mine.  The ICC has just published a fact sheet on pain and cancer in disparate populations.  One startling fact is that 65 percent of nonwhite patients with pain do not receive World Health Organization recommended analgesics to pain compared to only 30 percent of white pain patients.  We cannot forget that California is the most diverse and multicultural state in the Union, which means that many of us are leery of our own Western mode of medicine, and many of us are non-English-speaking or limited-English-proficient, or both.  If I, as a California born and raised, English-speaking American, have difficulty making doctors understand my pain, what must it be like for those who are limited-English-proficient among us to adequately describe to doctors their pain?


While we are here to talk about gender bias in pain diagnosis and treatment, let’s make certain that no one is left behind, for the problems of health disparities in our state and in the United States extends to chronic pain, and perhaps this is where the gaps are the widest and the silence is the loudest.  The truth is, all those doctors who told me over the years my pain was all in my head and I could get rid of it if I really wanted to, I wish they were right.  I wish that it was all it took because I was diagnosed with recurrent cancer, rendering me disabled, just six months after I married my husband, and I can’t imagine going through the entire life, the rest of my life, without ever being able to make love to him again.  So, I wish that was all it took because I’d do it in a second.  The truth is, I’m sick and tired of being sick and tired.  Sadly, my dad died eighteen months ago, but I know he’s here with me today, and he’s telling me, “Don’t hold back.  Cry out loud, and let them know you are in pain.”


Thank you.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you.  Thank you for sharing your story.  I know that took a lot.  We can’t tell you how much we all appreciate it.  There isn’t one of us women or men here that isn’t really touched by your comments.  Thank you.


Senator Vincent wants to speak.


SENATOR EDWARD VINCENT:  Thank you.


You know, I’m sitting here taking this about as long as I can.  I’m really completely upset myself about it.  You know, I’m used to and I’m fully aware of racial bias, and I’m fully aware of cultural bias, but this gender bias—I mean, where have I been and where have you been?  This, to me, is very embarrassing because I’ve never heard this before.  Never.  Some of the recommendations you made at the end, I would like to have a copy of those because there’s something we can do about it.  This is ridiculous!  Where have we been?


MS. SHINAGAWA:  Senator, the gender biases in medicine are as prevalent and as deep rooted as the cultural and racial biases in medicine, and they both still exist.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Well, you know, I was talking to Senator Kuehl, and most of you know I just had some problems with my wife.  She never complained about anything.  My two daughters, they came and told me, they said, “Dad, there’s something wrong with Mommy,” and my daughters are in their late thirties.  They said, “There’s something wrong with Mommy.”  I said, “What do you mean?”  So, they started telling me a lot of things when I’m gone, and so now she’s in therapy and she’s being seen at UCLA.  I mean, it’s a long story.  I’d like to use a better word but I can’t, but what pissed me off is that when I went there to do the things that they weren’t doing, I demanded they do it.  And this wasn’t a matter of capitation.  This was Blue Cross and Medicare.  The whole works was there.  When I came, I was like a tiger in a cage about some of the things that I knew.  She had some problems with her leg and her hip.  Really, I thought she had Parkinson’s.  Thank God she didn’t have that. 


But, as I sit here and listen, I just can’t believe that all these things are happening.  If that’s happening, why didn’t you guys say something about this?  Nell, why didn’t you say something?  [Laughter.]  No, really, I’m serious.  It’s not a laughing matter.  It’s not.  I’m really upset about this.  But I just can’t believe this.  This is unbelievable, sitting and listening to this.  It really is.


I’ll tell you what, something’s going to be done about it because this is just unbelievable!  And you guys doing all these bills—let’s do a bill.  We do everything else.


SENATOR SOTO:  Susan, I would be honored to work with you to try to bring some of these suggestions forward and put them into law.


MS. SHINAGAWA:  I would love to.


SENATOR SOTO:  I would be honored to do that.  Please call me, and let’s get together with Jackie, my staff person.  I think many of those suggestions that you made are very easily done, and we can put them into legislation.  To me, it would be at least partial answers, taking some actions to do something.


MS. SHINAGAWA:  And I can tell you that within the National Cancer Council—it’s a national organization—it’s multiculture, multidisciplinary.  We’re dealing with cancer in the minority and medically underserved populations, but we will be right behind you.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Well, we’d be glad to work with you—all of us.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Thank you for coming.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you for sharing your story.


We’re going to go off the agenda a little, because that’s a thing we get to do when women are in charge.  [Laughter.]


SENATOR VINCENT:  Go ahead.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Sally Adelus needs to catch a plane.  Right?  [Response inaudible.]  No, that’s okay.  Why don’t you come up so you don’t have to worry and give your testimony.  It’s fine.  I don’t like to hurry anyone.  I don’t like to provide unnecessary stress.  


It’s just fascinating information, and everybody wants to ask questions.  It probably will take a little longer than expected, but we want to hear from everyone.


Thank you for being here with us.


MS. SALLY ADELUS:  Madam Chair, Senators, members, and respected colleagues.  I have also noticed that there are a number of patients in our audience.  Thank you, and I’m very privileged to be here and give my testimony today.


I’d like to speak from a nursing perspective, as I’ve been engaged in the front line of nursing pain assessment and management for nearly twenty years.  I played roles as a nurse, a hospice nurse, a pain nurse specialist, educator, and director in pain management, palliative care, and hospice care settings.  I’ve provided nurse consultancy to the Compassion in Dying Federation regarding standards of nursing practice in pain management.  And I’ve been integral in the implementation of the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organization’s pain standards within the hospital setting.


This year I was elected to serve on the board of directors for the American Society of Pain Management Nurses, and I’m currently executive director for Hospice of the Valley, which is a nonprofit hospice serving adults (men and women and children) in the Santa Clara Valley.


I’d like to add and include in my testimony today that just before I arrived here today, our hospice did a random chart review of the patients that we served in December, and it was quite enlightening.  For the number of women patients that we served, 30 percent of them—over 30 percent of them—required to have their pain management changed within the first week of service.  Thirteen percent of those were men required to have their pain management changed within the first week of service, which is an interesting result from just a simple chart review in our hospice.


My finest role as a nurse is and always will be as a patient advocate.  Unfortunately, I’ve borne witness to the stories and suffering of women who have received inadequate pain assessment and treatment, both in the home, the clinic, the nursing home, and the hospital setting.  I’ve observed women receive comprehensive interdisciplinary pain care far too late, and that was already mentioned to you.  For those women at the end of their life, and often the most vulnerable, the barriers to pain relief are often insurmountable.  


One of the greatest challenges as an educator is attempting to dispel the many myths and attitudes and misconceptions that health professionals hold regarding pain management.  Undoubtedly, these barriers impact humane treatment.  For all of us, relief from pain is a basic human right, and surely our gender must not interfere with that fundamental right.  Engaging physicians, nurses, and other health professionals to reflect and analyze their own attitudes on pain is an integral component to good pain education and good pain care.  How can I educate “Dr. Jones” or “Nurse Smith” to treat “Mrs. Jakes’” pain in Room 211 when they believe that Mrs. Jakes is just a drug-seeking whiner and there’s no point in giving her the pain medicine because nothing works anyway?  As an educator, we need to address these attitudes and beliefs before beginning to truly teach.  


The current research and evidence laid before us compels us to quickly expand our teaching modules on pain management to incorporate the relationship with gender on pain.  Changing attitudes traditionally has been a very slow process.  The Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations (JCAHO), their standards in 2001 significantly improved pain assessment and management within our institutions.  I saw that firsthand.  The research still needs to be coming.  However, interpretation and implementation of the JCAHO’s pain standards was largely left up to the individual institution.  Consequently, pain education training modules varied.  Many hospital, university-based institutions incorporated sophisticated, comprehensive pain education training modules which did address the issues of gender.  Others fulfilled only the basic requirements set by the standards and the relationship of gender to pain management being only briefly highlighted in their education modules.


Over recent years, physician statements and guidelines have been developed to address pain in the vulnerable populations:  the elderly, the children, the chronically sick, and those at the end of their life.  The American Pain Society has issued statements.  The American Society of Pain Management Nurses, the Oncology Nursing Society—I could name just a few—they have accomplished significant work.  The core curriculums for pain education are available to the nursing profession, and they are the American Society of Pain Management Nurses and the Board of Registered Nursing; and also, the work that was spearheaded by Dr. Betty Ferrell, the City of Hope—the pain resource nurse training—is significant.  All have been established to help the nurse increase his or her knowledge about pain assessment and management, and the ASPMN core curriculum will be the first of its kind in the nation to facilitate nurse certification in pain management, which is a big start for us nurses.


I’m pleased to inform you that the ASPMN will also be addressing the relationship of pain and gender in the development of their physician statement on the undertreatment of pain later this year.


Historically, accountability for the undertreatment of pain has been lacking.  The Compassion in Dying Federation has done enormous work in investigating, scrutinizing, and sanctioning cases of undertreatment.  In fact, there was a case that I’m sure you’re very aware with the Tillamon[?] case just recently and the outcomes of accountability to the physician that did not provide adequate pain care to this patient.  Such accountability will drive both regulatory and medical and nursing board standards of practice even further.  This work needs to be supported.  The impacts of gender bias are currently not sufficiently covered within the protocols and clinical practice guidelines that exist.


The Oncology Nursing Society’s position statement on cancer pain management recognizes that women are at risk for suboptimal pain management.  However, we need to go beyond this very statement and expand on the very reasons as to why women are at risk and how to effectively educate and give our educators the actual tools to be able to do this:  dispel the barriers and promote good pain care.  


There was an interesting study published in the 2002 edition of the Pain Management Nursing where a nurse and her team—Karen Simpson—demonstrated that sustained effort at staff education over an extended period is required to affect knowledge and attitudes.  The study also highlighted that false beliefs can persist even after two years of education.  This is a sustained effort that we need to do.


While healthcare providers need education on the relationship of gender bias, it must be recognized that community awareness should parallel medical education.  Encouragement and collaborative effort—and for the previous speaker, that was very much observed—collaborative efforts and educational initiative should be sought from both medical, patient, and community organizations.  In addition, a physician statement regarding the relationship of pain and gender needs to be developed.


With the compelling research data set before us, we need to proactively incorporate this evidence into our teaching on the very front lines.  It is essential that healthcare professionals are taught gender sensitive medicine in a nonjudgmental way.  I’ve been there on the front lines.  I’ve been on the floors.  I’ve witnessed the attitudes.  I’ve witnessed the misconceptions and the treatment of women in pain.  It is only then we can facilitate change in the current management of pain.  There is no room for generalizations or preconceived opinions when managing pain.  For nurses, the greatest differences can be made in clinical practice.  Clinical decisions must be supported by solid evidence-based medical practice and literature.  For example, it is essential that nurses know that women and men experience pain differently and the pharmakinetics of analgesias may differ between men and women.  If you’re practicing on the front lines, that’s basic knowledge awareness—pain management.


Finally, the nurses are in the prime position to assess and treat pain from a holistic framework of mind, body, spirit, emotions, gender, and culture to capture the meaning for the individual.  Nurses serve as the voice of experience, and advocacy is harmonious with our nursing principles to provide comfort and alleviate suffering and to ensure we serve the most vulnerable groups with pain, including women.


Thank you.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you.


SENATOR SOTO:  As you can see, I’ve been going back in my mind of all the times I’ve had with members of my family—my mother, my father, my husband—having experienced a great deal of time in hospitals, helping to take care of them.  It got to the point where I didn’t dare leave my husband alone with the nurses and doctors because of the attitude that you’re talking about.  I’ve heard that once the doctors and the nurses get out in the hall, it’s “This person just complains.”  They talk to each other and they convince each other that there is something going on that shouldn’t be because “This person is just making up   this . . .” whatever it is that they’re complaining about.  I’ve heard it so many times before.  One time when I was with my husband, who had terminal cancer for almost three years—we knew he was dying, but I tried to help him keep alive—but the remarks that I would hear from the nurses talking about some of the patients that they were taking care of and talking to each other when they didn’t think we were listening—you know, about “So-and-so is complaining a lot, and I don’t really think that she is experiencing that”—it’s almost blatant in some instances.  I didn’t know what to do about it at the time.  I wish now that I had said more about it because it was at the point of being almost embarrassing to hear some of the conversations that the nurses and the doctors were having about their patients.  I just don’t want to experience that again, but if I ever do experience it again, I am going to really do something about it and say something at the time.  You know, you don’t feel as if you can really butt in.


MS. ADELUS:  And that, for you, as an advocate for your family member.  There’s many folks out there that cannot do that, even if you went to the next stage to address that issue.  One of the things that I feel relatively strongly about is that it’s okay to teach the medical professionals in the classroom setting.  You’ve got to put those educators on the floor to experience this firsthand and to go in there and intercede in these conversations and address the attitudes that are being expanded and more built upon within that environment.  It’s critical that we get down to the grassroots level in our education.


SENATOR SOTO:  One of the times at one of the most noted cancer clinics in the world I had my husband in, in Duarte, they were taking their time about giving him the medication that the doctor said he had to have immediately.  The conversations that were going on.  I mean, there was no sense of urgency until I finally stood in the middle of the hall and I said, “Who’s going to do what the doctor said to do for my husband?”  I had to yell before they really paid attention to his needs.


MS. ADELUS:  You know, when we look at that, one of the cases that I reviewed—and it was, actually, for the Compassion in Dying—was of a young woman with Ehlers-Danlos syndrome, where she was transported from a setting, from an acute care setting in the emergency room, to another floor in the hospital with excruciating pain, of what we call number 10—excruciating, intractable pain.  Now, if that young girl had had an unstable blood pressure, the protocols in the hospital would say, No, we don’t transport her.  Yet, this young woman was transported.  There’s this bias that exists in how we treat pain, and that’s what we need to get to the roots of.


SENATOR SOTO:  Are there any medical schools or nursing schools in California that are paid by state funds, and how many are there, and approximately how many doctors graduate each year, and couldn’t we include some of that training in there?


MS. ADELUS:  It is included in some aspects, but it depends on the school themselves and their curriculum.


You know, one of the things that came out of the City of Hope was the pain resource nurse training which, again, educates the nurse to get back to the floors and dispel the knowledge.  I’m an advocate for that type of training in extension to what we have right now; you know, basic core curriculum in nursing schools and in medical schools.


SENATOR SOTO:  But if it’s required and they don’t do it, then we should have some kinds of penalties for it.


MS. ADELUS:  Standards of practice.  That’s what it’s about.  That’s what the nurses look at; that’s what the physicians look at.  Absolutely.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you.  Thank you very much.  Drive safely.


Next we’ll have Ms. Maggie Buckley.  Thank you for being with us.


MS. MAGGIE BUCKLEY:  Thank you for having me.


Good afternoon, Senators.  Thank you for your time and attention to this very important issue.  I’m here representing women with Ehlers-Danlos syndrome, or EDS.  


I volunteer with the Ehlers-Danlos National Foundation based in Los Angeles and the Canadian Ehlers-Danlos Association in Toronto.  These organizations offer support to individuals and families affected by EDS.  Because EDS pain often has only subtle associated symptoms, one must have a doctor willing to listen, to believe in the person, and to give credence to her pain before an accurate diagnosis can be made.  Unfortunately, this rarely happens.  The result can be suffering, disfigurement, crippling, and even senseless death, as in the example that Sally just gave.  As I speak today, please bear in mind that the majority of the people who come to me with EDS issues are women.


Ehlers-Danlos syndrome is a genetic degenerative collagen disorder that affects all of the body’s connective tissue.  This is the tissue that supports blood vessels, muscles, ligaments, internal organs, and skin.  Basically everywhere.  There are several types of EDS which share a core set of symptoms, including bruising, hypermobile joints, fragile skin, fragile smooth muscle organs, and chronic severe pain.  Briefly, the three most common types of EDS and their distinguishing diagnostic criteria are the hypermobility type known for generalized joint hypermobility and frequent dislocations; the classical type, which is known for very velvety, very soft fragile skin that stretches and can be pulled away from the body abnormally (it doesn’t heal properly); and the vascular type, which is a very painful arterial and organ fragility problem, and those internal organs and blood vessels are prone to rupture under that type of pressure.  


Diagnosis is based upon clinical findings and upon the family history.  Those findings are then compared to the diagnostic criteria.  The differentiation by type helps in understanding differences between patients.  However, many people with EDS do not fit neatly into any one of the types.  Thus, there is an overlap of the signs and symptoms that frequently leads to either a delay in diagnosis or missed diagnosis and results in inappropriate medical treatments.  Without a diagnosis as early as possible in life, EDS patients are prone to disfiguring, crippling, or even life-threatening methods of treatment.


The key aspect of preventing such risky types of treatments is communication between patient and doctor.  Unfortunately, since EDS affects approximately one in 5,000 individuals (regardless of gender or race), most doctors are not familiar enough with the diagnostic criteria of this genetic disorder.  Thus, symptoms are missed or misinterpreted.  Common misinterpretations sadly include child or spousal abuse allegations or mental illness.  Too often a diagnosis is made only after three or four generations of premature death.  Diagnosis and treatment is further complicated by the very painful secondary conditions which many EDS patients cope with, including arthritis, reflex sympathetic dystrophy, fibromyalgia, chronic fatigue syndrome, and idiopathic neuropathy.  I will provide just three specific examples of the serious consequences of delayed or missed diagnosis.  


Joint pain and instability is often misdiagnosed and treated with surgery; sometimes repetitively.  This usually results in severe permanent reductions in mobility.  Organ fragility is often not recognized in vascular patients, and with inappropriate invasive procedures, premature death is likely to result.  Finally, a misdiagnosis of abuse or mental illness is a tragic and unnecessary burden for a family struggling with EDS or another such condition.  Thus, it is clear to see the importance of good communication between the patient and doctor and the doctor believing the patient when she talks about her pain.


In working with female EDS patients and those suspected of having EDS, I have identified many coping strategies that have been helpful for individuals trying to communicate their pain and symptoms to their doctors.


And Senator Figueroa, you were asking earlier how do you communicate your pain to the doctor.  These strategies that I’m going to list are things that I’ve worked up with people in specific situations as they’ve come to me.  


The first thing is demeanor.  I advise them to always present a calm and organized façade to the doctor, as difficult as that may.  


Keep in mind that doctors are people too.  As in other aspects of one’s life, and as in the example that Susan gave, sometimes the patient’s going to get along better with one doctor than another.  You’re going to get better results from one doctor as opposed to another.  So, give the doctor a chance.  Don’t go in with the expectation that she’s not going to be helpful but know that it’s okay to change doctors and ask for a change.


Pain journal.  Keep a pain and symptom journal, noting times when pain occurs or is increased, as well as activities engaged in prior to the pain incident and any additional symptoms; anything else that’s going on.  In that pain journal, consistently use a pain scale or some sort of subjective pain rating as an effective method of communicating your pain.  In using that same scale, or whatever your translation of it might be, using it consistently is important in being able to have some credence with the doctor.


SENATOR SOTO:  [Inaudible.]


MS. BUCKLEY:  Yes.  There’s faces; there’s colors; there’s numbers; there’s letters.  There’s lots of different scales out there.


No tears.  Stereotypically, the over-emotional woman will cry under stress or when trying to talk about a difficult topic.  And I always remind the women who come to me:  “Never cry when talking to the doctor about pain.”  You should be comfortable enough to speak clearly and audibly during the appointment.  And if the emotionality of the situation becomes overbearing, there’s a trick that I learned when I earned my MBA and they were trying to teach me to be “like a man,” and that is, when you feel those tears coming in, take a deep breath and inhale, swallow, and then exhale.  Somehow, by doing that, you don’t cry.


An introduction letter.  Many of the women that I work with find it helpful to write a letter to the doctor prior to the visit.  I remind them that that letter needs to be a very concise one-page letter that introduces the patient, gives a brief history of her major symptoms and problems, and expresses her main concerns (i.e., lack of diagnosis; ineffective pain relief).  In this way, she may invite the doctor to become a partner in addressing her concerns.


Preparation.  Prepare for an appointment by writing down the top three concerns on an index card so that nothing is forgotten during the appointment.  The key, though, is to give the card, or a copy of it, to the doctor so that you’re both operating with the same checklist during the appointment.


Don’t go alone.  I’ll remind everyone that you can go to the doctor and bring a friend or a family member to accompany you for support, to take notes, or to even advocate for you.


Be prepared for psychiatric referrals.  It’s very sad that we even have to address this and that I have to address it over and over again.  I tell women to accept or even ask for the referral to another healthcare professional because those other healthcare professionals, whether they be a psychiatrist, a counselor, or a physical therapist, they can advocate for her so that she can be taken seriously by the other doctors and somehow remove that inappropriate perception of mental illness.  And the personal example I give is that whenever I have a new pain issue develop, I make an appointment with my psychiatrist first—I go to two or three appointments—and then go to my doctor so that when they tell me “It’s all in your head,” I can say, “No, here’s the number of my psychiatrist.”


Use medical records.  Get copies of medical records and regularly update them.  It is permissible for her or her advocate to write a letter for inclusion in the medical records that will offer further details or a new perspective on an item noted by a doctor or a nurse.  Here in California that’s easier than in some other states to do.


Join a support organization.  Other individuals with similar symptoms and/or diagnoses may offer some helpful tips on coping with some specific types of pain.  They also may provide an alternative and more effective method of explaining a type of pain to the physician.


Use the Internet.  Within the community of rare diseases and disorders, the ability to share information and resources instantly is critical.  The only caveat I put on this is to use the information gained from the Internet with care.  For example, don’t bombard the doctor with the information, and avoid treating the doctor as if she knows nothing.


For individuals with EDS, there are several support organizations that offer a variety of support methods.  Despite the fact that there is no gender or racial bias in the frequency of EDS, my experience has been that the vast majority of the people involved in these support organizations are women.  This tells me that these women aren’t getting the help that they need from their regular healthcare providers, so they’ve had to go outside the healthcare system into the support arena for help.


To name a few here in North America, the Ehlers-Danlos National Foundation (or EDNF), EDS Today, and the Canadian Ehlers-Danlos Association all offer Internet, telephone, and in-person support options.  The EDNF provides a secure online members area that currently serves 1,300 families and averages 50 posts per day.  In addition, the EDNF provides educational materials, including an emergency room reference CD and a teacher’s guide.  Also, EDNF will be issuing two research grants this year.


CEDA hosts a Web site and themed online support groups in addition to maintaining a list of physicians who have treated EDS patients in many parts of the world.  Additionally, CEDA provides information to physicians and participates in school meetings to customize education plans for students with EDS.


EDS Today publishes a newsletter by, for, and about people with EDS.  An example of EDS Today supported research is a current study on speech-language issues associated with EDS.  EDS Today also hosts a Web site with EDS information and an online bulletin board.


All of these organizations exist to connect and educate individuals with EDS, their families, and healthcare providers.  They assist these women in addressing their major concerns.  At least once a week a woman posts a query asking for help in getting her doctor to believe her when she talks about her pain. The printed materials provided by these organizations professionalize or validate the information just by having a logo on them, and somehow, that makes it more acceptable to a doctor than hearing these women speak of their own pain.


To conclude, the importance of pain assessment as a diagnostic tool cannot be understated.  I suggest forums such as this encourage increased awareness and the use of pain assessments in routine examinations and discussions between doctor and patient.  There’s an amount of education that needs to take place, not only in the medical schools but in the clinical setting and in the patient arena somehow.  In addition, supplementing improved pain assessment with the development and successful implementation of biochemical diagnostic tests could greatly improve the quality of life with patients with EDS.


I thank you for your time, and thank you, Senator Soto, for your making February “Women in Pain Awareness Month.”  Coincidentally, February is also the “Ehlers-Danlos Support Organizations Awareness Month.”  So, it’s very apropos that we’re here.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you.  We appreciate it.  


Do you have any questions?


Dr. Padgett, thank you for being here.


DR. KATHRYN A. PADGETT:  Thank you.


Senators, panelists, and audience members.  I’m pleased to have an opportunity to speak to you today.


As I sit in this auspicious group and reflect on what I’ve heard, I’m truly overcome by the stories that I’ve heard.  I do believe that you have taken a very important first step in giving a voice to those who suffer pain.  You ask, “Where do we start?” and I believe that this is a very fundamental and important beginning.  To give such articulate people, such as this woman sitting to my right and Cynthia and Susan, who have lived this journey and who have gone through unspeakable things but yet maintained their human resiliency, to stand before you to share their stories and to tell you what needs to be done on behalf of others who suffer pain, I applaud their incredible bravery, and I applaud you as senators for opening up the floor to give it a forum.  This is just an absolutely wonderful gift that you are giving the pain world.


It’s very important for those who suffer pain to have a voice and to have their voice heard.  Pain is a silent epidemic in the United States.  An estimated    50 million Americans live with chronic pain caused by disease, disorder, or accident.  An additional 25 million people suffer acute pain resulting from surgery or accident.  Approximately two-thirds of these individuals in pain have been living with this pain for well over five years.  The most common types of pain include arthritis, lower back, bone and joint pain, muscle pain, and fibromyalgia.  The loss of productivity and daily activity due to pain is substantial.  In a study done in 2000, it was reported that 36 million Americans missed work in the previous year due to pain and that 83 million indicated that pain affected their participation in various activities.  


In 1986, Koch estimated that 70 million office visits to physicians were motivated by pain complaints.  In 1994, Joranson & Lietman estimated that approximately one-fifth of the adult American population experienced chronic pain.  And in 1999, Marketdata Enterprises estimated that approximately 4.9 million individuals saw physicians for chronic pain treatment.  One can conclude from these statistics that pain and its undertreatment represent a very major problem confronting our modern culture.  


In 1998, the National Institutes of Health estimated that approximately 80 percent of nursing home residents suffering pain were undertreated.  A survey done by the American Pain Society in 1999 revealed that more than four out of ten people suffering moderate to severe pain were unable to find adequate pain relief.


Untreated pain, as we have witnessed today, has a significant impact on the pain sufferer and their family.  The “Chronic Pain in America:  Roadblocks to Relief” study demonstrated clearly that pain has a negative impact on an individual’s quality of life.  Pain diminishes their ability to concentrate, to do their job, to exercise, to socialize, to perform daily tasks, and to sleep.  As you have heard from Cynthia and others, all of these losses result in an unrelenting downward spiral of depression, isolation, and loss of self-esteem.  Sternbach conducted extensive clinical studies that concluded that depression is most frequently the psychological reaction to chronic pain.  Actually, anxiety is the most frequent psychological reaction to acute pain.


People with chronic pain have difficulty finding physicians who can effectively treat their pain, and this is particularly true for women, minorities, and for people in rural areas.  One study found that one out of four pain patients had changed physicians at least three times, reporting that their primary reason for changing physicians was that they still experienced their pain.  Other reasons given were that their pain was not taken seriously, that physicians were unwilling to treat pain aggressively, and that physicians lacked knowledge about how to treat pain.  


I commend you that California enacted AB 487 requiring physicians to complete twelve continuing medical education units in pain and end-of-life care as a condition of relicensure.  This is a very effective first step to educating physicians regarding pain management issues.  But, as we have witnessed today, there is much left to be done.


One of the most persistent contemporary issues in pain management is the use of opioids for chronic pain.  Over the past four years, pain practitioners and society have been confronted with a dizzying array of events regarding the use and abuse of prescription opioids, thus forcing a public debate regarding the benefits and risks associated with the use of these prescription opioids for pain management.  There is absolutely no doubt that Rush Limbaugh’s alleged abuse of prescription opioids and that the DEA prosecution of pain physicians and countless articles and media reports and other similar events have served to flame the fires of this often contentious issue.  


Is this a bad thing?  Should we fear this public debate?  I think not.  Each of these events serves as a springboard for gaining perspective regarding the issues at hand.  Is it appropriate to prescribe opioids for chronic pain management, and if so, how can it be done while minimizing diversion for illicit use?  In a democratic society, it is necessary for citizens to engage in an open dialogue regarding any chosen issue in order to reach consensus.  Thus, both sides of the debate must be heard and evaluated, just as we are doing here today on the issues of women in pain.  


With our eye on what is best for both the pain patient and society at large, it is incumbent upon us to sort through the sensational and emotional messages that abound on both sides of this debate, with the intention of forming an informed and balanced decision.  We must not allow ourselves to be captured by the rhetoric.  But rather, we must separate ourselves from the emotions and special interests to determine a reasonable approach for the use of prescription opioids for pain relief.  It is clear that many pain patients achieve dramatic and positive results from the use of prescription opioids for their painful conditions.  It is equally clear that the diversion of prescription opioids for street use can create destructive forces for both individuals and communities.  How can we achieve a balanced approach that addresses the needs of all stakeholders?


As I ponder this question, I keep arriving at the same conclusion:  education coupled with legislation.  We must educate ourselves and others about the risks and benefits of prescription opioids.  We must address the issues of addiction and diversion openly and responsibly.  We must require physicians to demonstrate knowledge and competency for the prescription of opioids as well as how to recognize signs of addiction and drug seeking behavior.  I think perhaps the best way to accomplish this is through enactment of legislation not too dissimilar from AB 487, that you’ve already done.  We must provide quality education for those who prescribe opioids as well as those who handle people who are in pain and have them understand the need to do thorough histories and exams and the need to keep accurate medical records and to truly believe people when they report that they are in pain.


This is an essential public debate because the lives and comfort of countless thousands of people depend upon it.  Rather than trying to galvanize public opinion and create villains and heroes, let us join hands together and sort through the rhetoric with the objective of formulating informed and balanced public policy. 


I have a personal knowledge of the importance of adequate pain relief, having watched my beloved husband die a very painful death.  Richard experienced intractable visceral pain due to pancreatic cancer, often writhing and moaning with this pain.  After an ERCP, his physician refused to give him pain medication because they were, quote, “afraid of reprisals from state and federal agencies” and therefore did not keep triplicate pads.  He was left to writhe in pain that was, as he put it, “10+.”  


As a caregiver, I must tell you, it’s a desperately helpless feeling to watch your loved one in this untenable situation.  Unrelieved pain destroys the fundamental richness and basic activities of life, diminishing thought and meaningful interaction with the outside world.  Richard’s world shrank dramatically; the borders of which were defined by the depth of his pain.  Prescription opioids granted him the capacity to live his remaining days with comfort and mental clarity.  Used appropriately, prescription opioids provide much needed relief for those suffering pain.  Therefore, it is incumbent upon physicians assisting those in pain to take time to educate themselves or be given the incentive to educate themselves—hence, bodies such as yourselves—regarding the appropriate prescription monitoring of opioid analgesia as well as diagnosis of pain complaints and treatment of pain.  In a word, as Cynthia and Susan and others have said, believe people when they tell you they’re in pain.


I also want to say that California has been at the vanguard of dealing with pain issues, and I continue to be quite proud of you in this state.  You’ve enacted legislation recently:  Senate Bill 151 that did away with the triplicates that bedeviled my husband’s treatment, and, of course, Senate Bill 402, which is the pain Patients’ Bill of Rights.


I was asked by Laura to give you a little bit about the academy which my husband and I founded, which is the American Academy of Pain Management.  We founded this academy in 1988 to provide much needed clinical education, standards, and advocacy in the fledgling field of pain management.  As a part of our founding documents, we defined a code of ethics for physicians and other multidisciplinary practitioners, and we also defined a patient bill of rights.  The American Academy of Pain Management is dedicated to assisting clinicians and other multidisciplinary pain practitioners in providing effective and safe pain relief.  Headquartered in Sonora, California, the academy now has approximately 6,000 multidisciplinary members; 3,600 of which are medical doctors and doctors of osteopathy.  


The vision of the American Academy of Pain Management is to offer clinicians an organization that affirms the concept of multidisciplinary pain management and provides an open forum for exchange among these disciplines, thereby improving the quality of treatment given to those who suffer pain.  The mission of the American Academy of Pain Management is to promulgate pain standards, education, and advocacy, advancing the field of pain management and reducing human suffering.  We provide many educational activities through our annual clinical meeting, on our Web site, in our textbook, our tapes, CDs, and other activities.  We currently work with many states and federal agencies to advocate for improved treatment for those who suffer pain, and we are deeply pleased to join hands with the California Senate to seek ways to do so as well.


Thank you for devoting your time today for this very, very important topic.  I appreciate your time and attention.  Thank you, Senators.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you, Dr. Padgett.  Thank you very much.


The question I have is that you mentioned the gains that we have made in California, especially with SB 121, which actually didn’t happen overnight—it took a number of years to get some consensus and people in agreement—and then with the Patients’ Bill of Rights that a number of us have worked on.  Understanding that the federal government supercedes what happens in the various states, do you feel that we are in jeopardy of losing those gains that we have made in California in pain management when there are cases like the unfortunate Rush Limbaugh and others?  At the federal level, I do not know if they have had the in-depth hearings that we have had or if they’re at the same educational attainment.


DR. PADGETT:  I would reflect the same answer that Professor Hoffmann gave you, and that is, yes, we are at risk of losing some ground that we have made. 


Pain sufferers, such as Cynthia and Susan, who have told you some very compelling stories about their lives, no doubt have been given greater functionality by being able to take prescription medications.  Now people are afraid to say, “I am taking an opioid for my pain,” for fear of being categorized as an addict or a drug seeker.  I think that physicians are very frightened to prescribe those medications for fear of federal and/or state reprisals, whether those are real or imagined.  And as I think Joranson cites and Professor Hoffmann indicated, the actual numbers in real numbers may be relatively small but the perception is huge.  The perception is huge among physicians that they will face reprisals if they step into this arena.


And so, I do believe yes.  A long answer to a short question, I do believe we have and are losing ground, very important ground, that we have made.


I was appalled that in cancer pain—and perhaps Senator Soto could speak to that with her husband—that pain medication was withheld from someone who has cancer.  I think we have fundamental understanding of cancer pain far more so than chronic pain, and yet, even in that arena, there is a withholding and a fear of prescribing that category of medication.  Doctors really are in a very unfortunate position of “damned if you do, damned if you don’t” because we also have Compassion in Dying and other organizations that are bringing actions against doctors for the undertreatment of pain.  I always liken it to being an anchovy:  If you swim too high, the birds get you; and if you swim too low, the tuna get.  You know, it’s really very tough.


SENATOR SOTO:  I really have to say something about that because of the arguments that I had when my husband was dying:  “Oh, you can’t give him too many pain killers.”  I said, “What difference does it make?  He’s dying.”


DR. PADGETT:  That’s right.


SENATOR SOTO:  “And if I can make him a little bit more comfortable, can’t you give me something?”  I’d run out of the pain killers.


But I want to tell you a story.  I just recently lost a son.  He had spinal—there’s a word for it.  I can’t keep that in my head.  Anyway, his spine was fusing with his ribs, and it was traveling down into his hips.  He was in a lot of pain, constant pain, which he didn’t tell anybody.  He told his brother, his oldest brother, but he didn’t want him to tell even his wife or me.  I didn’t know he was in such pain.  


The consequences of that was he took so many pain pills that it weakened his heart, and I think that’s what you’re talking about, that doctors are in fear of that.  Well, he had a heart attack in his sleep.  All this time his older brother knew that he was in such pain that he couldn’t even walk unless he had the pain killers.  So, it’s six of one and half a dozen of the other that you have to measure . . .


DR. PADGETT:  You have to weigh the risks against the benefits.


SENATOR SOTO:  I didn’t know that Buddy was in such pain.  I really didn’t, because he had told his older brother, “Don’t tell Mom.”  And the thought that he was in pain and I didn’t know about it just really is a painful thing for me to know.


DR. PADGETT:  I think pain is such a complex issue, and it affects far more than the individual who is suffering the pain.  It really blows apart family units.  I think you heard Cynthia speak to that topic.  It’s such a multilayer, multifaceted issue, and as a society, we tend to marginalize people that we don’t understand, and it’s a very difficult thing.


SENATOR SOTO:  I think it was spinal spondylitis.  


UNIDENTIFIED:  Ankylosing spondylitis.


SENATOR SOTO:  There you go.  That’s what he had.


UNIDENTIFIED:  It’s when the spine fuses and then they can’t move.  It hurts like hell.


SENATOR SOTO:  And he was on his way there, and I didn’t know.  He told his brother, “Pretty soon I’m going to be in a wheelchair because my spine is fusing to my hips.”  He was in a lot of pain, but the pain pills caused him to have that heart attack that he had in his sleep, and this was only two or three weeks ago.  It’s really painful for me.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  As you can tell, we’re very passionate about this hearing because I think each and every one of us as legislators probably does have a personal story.  Some of these pieces of legislation, for us, are very personal.  In this building, we all know that when it becomes personal, the legislation gets a little bit more attention.  So, it’s wonderful to have you here to give us that forum to speak about these issues that are not just important to all of you out there, but it’s also important to us; and we put an actual face to these issues.  It’s personal, like Senator Soto’s son, Senator Vincent’s wife, Senator Chesbro’s wife.  I mean everybody.  I have a mother.  Everyone has that story.


So, thank you so much for being here.


We have one more panel, and this last panel consists of witnesses and individuals who will provide us with the medical professional’s perspective, and that’s Dr. Steven Richeimer and Dr. Fishman.  Thank you for being here with us.  Oh, excuse me.  And Dr. Diana Adams.  Thank you.


Obviously, a lot of us are going to probably have the question as to why this is going on.  I don’t know if you can answer that, but we would really appreciate your comments on what you see is happening in your field, your colleagues’ perception, and what some of us stated about having a balance.  That’s what we have to do all the time is that there’s no absolute, hundred percent right way to do things, but we have to undertake all the various approaches—the science, the data—and find some balance to it all. 


So, who wants to go first?


DR. STEVEN RICHEIMER:  I guess we’ll follow the list.


Hi.  I’m Steven Richeimer, and I’m the director of the Pain Management Program at USC in Los Angeles.  Thank you very much for having me.  It’s an honor to be here.  Senator Figueroa, it’s good to see you again.  I spoke with you in Los Angeles once.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Yes, that’s right.


DR. RICHEIMER:  I think Dr. Padgett, in the words she just gave, gave the background that is very important to understand, and that is that the gender bias that you’re here to discuss today occurs in the background.  Across the board we’re seeing medicine not treating pain very well.  There’s a great deal of ignorance in the medical community, a great deal of ignorance in the public, and a great deal of undertreatment.  There’s many reasons, and some of them have been mentioned, such as fear, how to handle opioids, and other reasons.


When you have that as your background, then I think it makes it even easier for certain populations to become even more dismissed or undertreated or even greater issues of ignorance.  It’s layered on top of an across-the-board background that medicine unfortunately has in this field.  Of course, in California you’ve taken great steps to try to undo that, but it’s going to be, I think, a slow process.  In spite of the fact that every physician has four years to get his twelve units, that’s just the start of a fix, I think.  Some of the discussions you heard earlier about statewide campaigns, maybe eventually nationwide campaigns, to educate the public and to educate the medical profession I think are very necessary.


I thought perhaps it might be useful to share some of the cases of patients that I have or are currently treating, and that might give you all a little bit of a sense as to what we’re dealing with.


The first case I wanted to mention is a male, a gentleman who I saw when I was working in the VA hospital.  He was at that time fifty years after having fought in World War II combat and having suffered the loss of a leg in combat injury.  For the fifty years since that accident, he had been having pain in the leg that was no longer there.  It’s called phantom limb pain, and it’s a fairly common condition in amputees.  So, he came to our clinic that we had set up, and I said to him, “Well, why didn’t you go to the doctors about this and do something about this?”  And his answer is going to sound familiar to you.  His answer was, “I did and the doctors told me it was all in my head.”  So, I said, “Well, it is somehow in your nervous system, but maybe there is, in fact, something we can do about it.”  I put him on a medicine that is very basic medicine that any pain physician here could tell you about.  I saw him one month later.  After just one month of medicine, he said to me, “Doc, for the first time in fifty years I can almost forget about my injury.”  Fifty years.


SENATOR SOTO:  What was it?


DR. RICHEIMER:  What was the medicine?  It was a medicine called gabapentin.  It’s not an opioid.  It’s something meant to work on the nervous system directly.


I think what we see there is that when there are situations of ignorance, it’s very, very easy to write it off as a psychological problem, a mental problem.  We don’t understand so you’ve got the problem.  There’s an across-the-board lack of humility, I think, in the medical field that predisposes us to this.


Let me tell you about a case that I’m treating right now.  This is a 51-year-old woman who a year ago had spinal surgery for a fairly typical back problem that drives many back surgeries in America today.  A few months after the surgery her pain was coming back but it felt different.  It felt like it was higher up in her back.  But the doctors basically said, “Well, you know, you’re after surgery; this is normal.”  For one reason or another, nothing really happened.  Pretty soon she said, “You know what?  It’s not just my back; it’s my stomach.  Everything’s hurting in the middle of my body.”  And again, nothing happened.  I don’t know whether anybody ever said to her “It’s in your head,” but they were dismissing her.  Finally, she started to get weakened legs, and now all of a sudden that became a red flag, and the doctor started evaluating her.  By the time they could complete the evaluation, she was already paralyzed.  She is at this point paralyzed from the waist down.  It created, obviously, a major medical evaluation, and it turns out she has stomach cancer.  The stomach cancer had spread to the spine, and the spine had compressed the spinal cord.  As you can imagine, this was associated with tremendous pain.  As the cord got compressed, the pain became rather extreme.


And here, sometimes we see some of the differences in how patients express themselves.  You may see a man try to be stoic about it.  Maybe not.  Some men would be yelling and screaming like anybody else.  This woman tended to emote greatly and had triggered people to react to her as if she was hysterical.  Superficially she was.  I had just came back out of the room meeting with her, paralyzed, spinal cord compression, cancer in her spine, and I talked to the oncology fellow who’s taking care of her, and he says, “Well, I imagine she does have some pain.”  I was floored:  “What do you mean ‘some pain’?  Her spinal cord is compressed.  She’s got disease up and down her spine.”


Again, I think this is partially gender bias; it’s partially ignorance; it’s partially fear.  You know, just sort of stepping back when you don’t know what to do.  So, I think there’s many things that go on here, and I think those of us who are in this business see this kind of thing all the time.  I forget which of the panelists a little earlier mentioned that there’s a wide variety of painful conditions that we see that for one reason or another—often poorly understood reasons—are more common in women.  Headache is a major one.  


I have a patient right now, twenty years of headaches—fairly disabling headaches—where nothing was done.  The common pain pills that anybody may get but nothing significant was done.  It only took—and I’m not saying we have the world’s greatest clinic.  I think it’s a very good clinic, but I think any serious pain center could have done the same thing.  It only took a month of treatment to get her to the point where she now, instead of daily headaches, has headaches about once a month and has her life essentially back.  And we didn’t do anything magical.  We did what any good pain center would do.  But it took her twenty years to even get referred to a pain center.


Again, I think it’s an across-the-board medical problem, and I think it’s exacerbated by gender bias.  And by the way, there is literature that shows that it is exacerbated by socioeconomic and racial bias.  And so, there are many, many problems here that just exacerbate the bigger problem.


What do we do about it?  I think you’ve already heard that research and education are key.  One thing I’d like to point out, that I don’t think sometimes people think about, is that insurance adjusters and insurance reviewers are just as prone to this bias as any other person in the field.  What that means is that sometimes women aren’t getting authorized for treatment—or sometimes other minority groups.  Although, it’s more common, I think, with women because you sometimes don’t even know the minority group—the adjuster might not—but they know if it’s a woman, and it’s easy to write it off along the lines of all that you’ve heard this afternoon.  I think this is an area that needs some greater investigation; maybe legislation and maybe education.


SENATOR SOTO:  In other countries, how do they handle it?  Can you give us an example?  Are they more aggressive in pain management?  Do they do it less?


DR. RICHEIMER:  Well, in the Third World it’s horrible.  We find that the use of opioids, which is one of the few measures we have, is really pitifully low, and there’s been some discussion:  Is that because of low resources?  Probably partly, but morphine, for instance, is really cheap.  So, there could be things that could be done.


In European countries, in Canada, and some of the other countries, we see areas that they do better than us.  A lot of the palliative medicine movement was started in England and brought to the United States.  But we also see some areas where they’ve lost the balance.  There’s been a lot of discussion in our field (and maybe some of the other panelists will talk about this) in Holland where, with the sort of right-to-die act, palliative care has withered.  So, I think we see a worldwide problem where people are still struggling to find the balance and figure out how to do this.  It’s not just here.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you.  Thank you very much.


DR. SCOTT FISHMAN:  My name is Scott Fishman.  I’m the chief of the Division of Pain Medicine here at UC Davis.  I’m also a professor of anesthesiology here at the School of Medicine at UC Davis.  I serve on the board of directors of the 

American Pain Society and the American Pain Foundation and am the president-elect of the American Academy of Pain Medicine—a physician organization dedicated to the care of patients in pain.


It’s hard for me to expound on what you’ve heard today.  I think you’ve heard the big picture.  I want to emphasize that I also think that this problem of the gender gap is due to the larger problem.  It’s a subset that I think is somewhat predictable:  You know, we see a gender gap in society, and we break it down, we cone it down, to a gender gap in medicine; and clearly, you’ll see that in other areas where patients are underserved.  As Dr. Richeimer said, we see it in other areas as well.  We see underserved populations in pain care based on race and economics.  We underserve the elderly.  We underserve children.  We do pitifully poorly in treating pain across the board.  


I think the important question to answer, after we recognize that there is a gender gap—and I applaud those who have brought this to the forefront today—is why is this and what can we do about it?  You’ve heard a lot about why it is.  The bottom line is, we can’t prove that anyone does or doesn’t have pain.  We’ve somewhat lost our compass in medicine and wandered from a basic principle of curing when we can and treating comfort always to curing as often as possible and treating comfort sometimes, when it’s convenient.  You might ask yourself why that is.  We’ve done very well at succeeding with improving quantity of life.  We’re living longer than we ever have.  The average life span in America has gone up to 79/80, but we’re not necessarily living better.  Some might say that we’ve become victims of our own success because many of us are living longer only to be in pain.  


That cure focus, quantitative medicine model has served to hit us in the backside a little bit because now insurers would much rather pay me $500 to spend ten minutes injecting someone’s spine than spend a fraction of that on an hour of time for me to get to know someone.  


What you’ve heard today, and one of the points that I think is most profound, is that pain is complex.  It’s a mind and body phenomenon.  When it comes to pain, the mind and body are inextricably linked; you can’t separate them.  You know, this idea that The doctor thought my pain was all in my head is an ironic one because you can’t have pain without a head.  You can’t have pain without a mind.  The mind is part of it.  But the idea that the patient thinks that we think it’s all in their head really isn’t to say that we think the mind is involved; it’s to think that we don’t believe them.  It’s to think that we will discount their physical symptoms and relinquish our responsibility to get them better.  In that, we have really changed the way we practice.  I think there is a cultural shift going on that’s occurring slowly, and that is that when someone complains of pain, we do believe them.  When someone says that they don’t think someone else has pain, it says more about the clinician than the patient because there’s no way to prove that someone does or doesn’t have pain, and there’s no way to prove that they do and don’t have pain relief.  


There’s been another shift in terms of the way that we treat pain, and that is that we want to see that pain treatment improves function and quality of life.  Improving function is gender blind, and I’m hopeful that this will be something that catches on; and I think it is catching on because the side effects that we’re most worried about—that being, say, addiction—addiction is really based on the dysfunctional use of a drug, and when we use drugs to improve function, we’re doing the diametrically opposite thing that we’re most worried about; therefore, we don’t have that side effect.  We’re safe, and we’re improving quality of life at the same time.


You’ve heard that physicians receive mixed messages, and we do.  That’s not to say that there’s a big wide area where we can safely practice.  We shouldn’t give the wrong message out there that those mixed messages are rational because they’re not.  Doctors who are in the mainstream of practice aren’t getting in trouble.  It’s the ones that are really out there in the extreme.  Some are in the extreme of doing very good rational care and some aren’t.  We’re not being reimbursed for taking care of pain the same way we are for curing.  Until that changes, I don’t think we’re going to see substantial change.


You know, I want to bring to your attention the example of a patient with cancer who’s treated with chemotherapy.  I don’t know if you know what chemotherapy is, but simplistically I would offer to you that chemotherapy is poison.  The idea is that we poison the bad cells more than the good cells.  But it’s poison, and people have all sorts of side effects and deaths due to chemotherapy.  But somehow, when someone has cancer, the belief is that it’s worth the risk of giving them poison; but when someone has pain, we somehow don’t think it’s worth the risk of treating them.  When someone has pain, we are willing to allow them to endure all sorts of negative consequences physically, socially, psychologically, et cetera, as though not treating pain doesn’t have risk in and of itself.  


We’re a society that wants pain relief with no possibility of addiction or hastening death.  I mean, the point that you made that your loved one was dying and we’re worried that this might hasten their death.  


SENATOR SOTO:  And addiction.


DR. FISHMAN:  Yes.  I’ve heard, “This patient’s not going to die an addict,” as unsettling as that might be.  


We need to change the culture of medicine so that we understand when someone’s in pain there’s no risk-free option.  I think that is changing, and these mixed messages are actually playing towards the center, which is that we need to treat pain.  We don’t want to overtreat it.  We don’t want to undertreat it.  There are all sorts of wonderful new treatments out on the horizon, but if all we did was use what we have right now, we would do a hundred times better.


We can educate doctors about all sorts of things that are much more complicated than treating pain.  Education and research are very important, but they’re not going to succeed until we make it safe, acceptable, and destigmatized to treat pain.  We shift that culture that we’ve kind of locked ourselves into that if you treat pain, you’re weak and you’re not curing.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you.


Dr. Fishman, you said that you were involved with a pain management association?


DR. FISHMAN:  The American Academy of Pain Medicine and the American Pain Society and the American Pain Foundation.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Wow.  I need your card.  You’d be a great person to know.


How do you and others keep updated on recent studies and developments in your field of pain management?  Is that a large study; something that happens all over the world?  Do you have to seek it out?


DR. FISHMAN:  It’s actually a really good question.  Fifteen years ago it would have been easy because there wasn’t a lot going on.  The advances, the efforts, to understand pain, to treat pain better, to move the horizon forward, have grown exponentially.  I could spend all of my time just reading articles and going to meetings.  Here in California, since the new law, there’s a pain meeting every other day somewhere.  Which is great.  But it is overwhelming, and we all have to select out what we’re looking at.  I see many people here that I see all over the country at national meetings working towards educating us.  


One of our favorite concepts in our program—we run a training program, as does Dr. Richeimer, to train future pain specialists, and one of our mottoes is “You never stop being Othello.”  I mean, you never stop being a student in this field.  I practice differently this year than I did last.  This is a very changing field, a changing horizon.  My goals haven’t changed, but the way that we do it are changing all the time, and there are new things happening.  We’re putting our effort and our dollars in more than we ever have.  It’s still not enough, but it’s kind of overwhelming now how many meetings you could be at all over the world, and it’s just growing.  So, that’s a long way to answer.  The answer is:  It’s hard to keep up.  There’s more information out there than any one person could actually assimilate.  I don’t know if you agree.


DR. RICHEIMER:  Totally.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  And I guess this question’s for all of you:  Where does reimbursement play into this?  [Laughter.]


DR. RICHEIMER:  Hugely.  As Dr. Fishman said, and this is throughout medicine:  Doctors are paid more for procedures than they are for spending time with patients, and that is across the board in medicine.  Good pain care can’t be done without knowing your patients.  That means that what’s happening with a lot of the pain care in the country is a lot of it’s shifting towards doing procedures rather than getting to know your patients.  And that’s driven by financial realities.  I don’t know to what degree you all can influence that, but it needs to be influenced.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  We’re trying.


DR. FISHMAN:  Thank you.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Dr. Adams?  Thank you for being so patient.


DR. DIANA ADAMS:  Oh, you’re welcome.


My name is Diana Adams.  I’m a pain management psychologist and have been doing pain management for about twenty-five years in both inpatient and outpatient settings.  I’m currently on the clinical faculty at Stanford and consult with the Inpatient Pain Program there and was at UCSF for many years in their Pain Management Program.  


What I thought these gentlemen were going to do was give you some sort of sense about what’s happened in our understanding of pain.  In the many years since I started working in pain, there’s been, completely, a revolution in what we know about pain.  So, I’d like to take a little bit of time to help organize some of this information for you and then speak specifically about gender-related issues.


I lecture often within psychiatry and within various medical organizations as part of pain management education.  In medicine, we have a lot of ideas about why people are in chronic pain, and a lot of these ideas are things that are part of the popular culture.  We don’t know where they came from, and what I’m finding very often is physicians don’t really understand where they came from as well.


I usually start by reading two quotes that are current quotes by well-respected people about pain that kind of highlights the difference in the different avenues in terms of understanding pain.  One of them is from the Health Psychology Journal, and it’s a quote about repression and the treatment of chronic pain, and it was in January of 2000.  Health Psychology would be the division of the American Psychological Association that someone like me would belong to, and I am what’s considered to be a behavioral medicine specialist.  I quote:  “Emotional repression has long been a topic in the literature on chronic pain.  Many formulations evolve from the psychodynamic notion that persistent pain reflects underlying conflicts with emotional expression.


“Freud advanced the theory of conversion in which the individuals who are unable to express emotional distress, through the exhibition of sadness, anger, and other feelings, will manifest emotional suffering and physical pain symptoms.  Another physician held that persistent pain could also be a proxy for emotional distress.  He further argued that physical pain gives the individual a reason more acceptable than emotional pain to elicit aid from others and that persistent pain could become a symbol of suppressed emotional distress that allows the individual to cope with the latter by attending to the former.  Engel, a renowned physician, saw that chronic pain could originate from organic causes but may persist as a manifestation of displaced hostility or aggressive impulses that the individual is either unwilling or unable to acknowledge.  Taken together these theories conceptualize chronic pain as a malady that the patient can abide, explain, complain about, seek help for, and so on, that is rooted in emotional turmoil that the patient can neither accept nor express directly.”  


In contrast, I’ll read a quote from 1999, from Michael Cousins, who is a renowned anesthesiologist pain management specialist from Australia.  And what he writes is “Chronic pain is a disease entity.  There is ample documentation now that persistent pain, even in the subacute phase after surgery and in association with childbirth, can cause severe psychological and even psychiatric effects which might be persistent.  


“There is also some extraordinary emerging evidence that persistent pain causes persistent physical effects involving the path of physiology of the nervous system itself.  We are used to the idea that severe pain may interfere with breathing and my stress the cardiovascular system.  We are not at all used to the idea that severe pain may cause alterations in the nervous system itself.  There may be”—I’m going to translate some of this—“spinal cord dorsal horn neuroatomic reorganization”—meaning the nerves going into the spinal cord can reorganize in a way so that the wiring in the spinal cord actually changes in time in association with severe pain.  “There can be genetic changes also in this area of the spinal cord that change the way the spinal cord responds to inputs of pain, increasing the response which then remains increased.  And finally, there may even be the death of neurons in the spinal cord, and these are neurons that actually help the body inhibit pain messages.  The end result of this is what we see in the pain patient.”


There are different traditions that really have arisen from a historical basis about the mind/body split that goes back for centuries, starting with Dakar[?], and basically saying that there’s no causal effect between a mental effect and a physical effect, because back in the 1500s, the mental effects were really in the land of the spirit and in the land of church and the land of God; and so, there was an attempt to separate the spiritual from the body.  It was a false dichotomy that has followed for ages in terms of our thinking about mind/body split and that there are certain things that are either psychogenic, meaning that they arise from the mind and have no basis in physical function, or that there are things that are concrete, things that you can measure and you can see, and these things cause illness and pain.


The whole idea of pain being psychogenic really arose from Freud, who also commented that, basically, if we don’t understand what’s causing pain, there has to be a mental reason for it and that the pain would either be psychogenic, somatic, or functional, which is to say that it is easier for me to express a physical pain.  It’s more palatable for me to feel physical pain than it is for me to deal with whatever uncomfortable emotions that I may have.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Doctor, could I stop you there?


DR. ADAMS:  Sure.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Where does the cultural understanding fit into that explanation, that through the ages it’s changed—the interpretation of what pain is and how the psychological and the physical intertwine?  But then there’s cultural biases, as we’ve heard testified.


DR. ADAMS:  Right.  The idea that people say “the pain is all in your head” really arises from this notion that stems back since Freud, which is:  It can’t be real; it has to be something that somehow you did in your brain to make this to be some sort of physical experience.  The idea that you know what that means—“the pain is all in your head,” that everyone in this room knows what that means—is how far this has permeated our culture.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  And other cultures.


DR. ADAMS:  Yes.  That either what you’re experiencing is real—it’s what we call “no susceptive”—that the doctor can look at you—“I hurt my finger here”—and the doctor can see that there’s some sort of pathology here.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  So, obviously you’re hurting.


DR. ADAMS:  Yes.  Therefore, we can fix it, we can block the pain, we can give you medicines, but we can do something about it because it’s real.  One of the ways that it’s real is I examine you and your pain is here, and that pain is what we call dermatomal.  It makes biological sense that this nerve is causing this pain as opposed to you hurt your injury here, now you’ve got RSD, now you’ve got pain in your whole upper quadrant here, or the pain now, the RSD, has spread to your legs.  How can that happen?  This is just this nerve that was injured here.  Therefore, in order for this pain to be out of proportion to what we would expect or amplify, there has to be some sort of reason for it, and it doesn’t make sense in terms of the way the wiring works.  So, why is this happening?  It’s happening because you’re doing something up here . . .


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Because you want it to happen.


DR. ADAMS:  Not necessarily that you want it to happen, but it must be that this pain serves some sort of function in your life; that it allows you to escape from something that’s painful:  from a work that you don’t like, from domestic duties, from any number of things.  It allows you to avoid things.  I think Cynthia, in one of her biography statements, said something about they thought that her RSD was because she had stage fright and this was a way of allowing her not to have to be a dancer.  I think that’s what I read.


So, there has been this attempt to make sense of, by looking for psychological reasons, why someone would magically take a physical experience and now expand it far beyond what we might expect from that.  So, that tradition of there has to be something else going on and it has to be because you, the patient, either want to avoid something or you’re getting reinforced for it—your husband is being solicitous of you and this gets you attention, or you’re getting money from workers’ comp and this money that you’re getting allows you to not work, so that there’s some sort of reinforcement for that—that stems from the kind of pain management world was when I started twenty-five years ago, when Wilbert Fordyce, who’s a pain psychologist, espoused a whole theory that the experience of pain is subject to other factors.  We call them operant factors, meaning reinforcement or punishment and that the reinforcement and punishment in and of itself could make pain be elicited at a greater rate.  At that time, when I was first in pain management, people were hospitalized for up to a month, and we very dutifully ignored pain behavior because we didn’t want to reinforce it and reinforced well behavior, and a lot of that theory and approach to pain still permeates a lot of the thinking about pain as well.


There’s been a revolution in terms of what we’ve understood about chronic pain.  Since the time that I began working in pain, and perhaps the most incredible time in my life was when I was working at UCSF where, in addition to having a pain management center, there’s a very strong focus on neurological research and understanding chronic pain, and it was during the years that I was there that many of the things that we now know about pain really became evident, and that is that just by being in pain for some amount of time—for some people it’s a short period of time, for some people it’s a long period of time—but persistent neural input of pain actually can rewire the nervous system.  We call that centralization, which means it can make more connections it’s learning.  The more input, the more connections your nerves make that can make connections above and below at different levels in the spinal cord so that what you get is essentially a rewiring and an amping up of the nervous system that now is different than a nervous system that hadn’t experienced chronic pain.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  So, it’s more sensitive to pain?


DR. ADAMS:  It’s more sensitive to pain, and you get a wider expression of pain.  And there’s a lot we don’t know about this.  But because we know these things, we have different kinds of treatments that can help people with pain.  


In the pain world and in the patient pain population, there is a big push to want to use opiates for pain relief.  Opiates are a tool.  They either work for you or they don’t work for you.  For people for whom they work, if it improves their function, if it decreases their pain and improves their mood, they’re a wonderful tool; but they’re not the answer to everything or else we’d just prescribe pain medicines and everybody would be fixed.


There are many other medications.  Among the other things that we’ve learned in the years that I’ve been working in pain is that the same chemicals that regulate mood, regulate anxiety, regulate sleep, regulate depression are among the same chemicals that help our bodies regulate pain.  And so, pain and mood and depression really are biologically linked in a way that you really can’t separate, and the attempt to make a distinction between, you know, “I had my pain first and then I got depressed but who wouldn’t?” well, that’s valid, but there are people who had depression before they had pain who then, in the course of the depression, had pain.  So, what we’ve learned is that many of the medications that help manage pain are medications that also help manage mood, manage anxiety, and there are a whole array of medications.


The distinction that something is all in your head really doesn’t hold up anymore.  The problem is, is that these are concepts that are part of our cultural and medical vernacular.  Lots of times I go into a great deal more depth in terms of delineating the history of all of this, and I do that with physicians.  They really don’t know where the terms that we use come from, and so, it’s very useful to find that out.  But that’s how physicians have been trained.  


Getting more into some of the gender differences between pain, in the years that I’ve been working in pain management, most of the patients who were referred for pain management are women, both inpatient and outpatient.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Is there an average age?


DR. ADAMS:  I would say that probably it’s women in their forties.


DR. RICHEIMER:  That’s probably about an average but by no means limited to that.


DR. ADAMS:  Yes.


DR. FISHMAN:  Chronic pain actually drops off as we get older.  It’s interesting.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  It drops off as we get older?


DR. FISHMAN:  Yes.  In the elderly.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  In the elderly.  Interesting.


I’m sorry.  It just gets so interesting.


DR. ADAMS:  No, that’s okay.


I’ve been seeing a rash of college students with chronic pain which has been a little bit new for me, and I’d like to highlight it by talking about two different patients that I saw this month, both in their early fifties.  One was a man and one was a woman.  


A successful male executive with a painful leg was given a diagnosis of painful neuropathy.  He had multiple medical work-ups, referrals, tests, and no cause or pathology could be found.  He’d had no accident, no illness, no surgery, no injury.  There was a kindly insistence from the doctors who saw him that this pain has a medical basis—it was a peripheral neuropathy—but we just don’t know yet where it was coming from.  This gentleman even acknowledged that he had been prone to the effects of stress from chronic headaches at one point in his life and had benefited from biofeedback.  It was possible that he’d had had two or three episodes of major depression, but he was never referred for any psyche work-up, never prescribed any psychiatric medications, and there was no suggestion whatsoever that his problem was psychogenic.  He’s a very successful executive.


A woman came in the next week and she’d had a clear fall with observable injury.  She was bleeding and she was sent to urgent care.  She was given an x-ray and referred to physical medicine.  She had no other diagnostic work-up other than the clinical exam.  She didn’t improve.  She was injured in 1998.  She had been prescribed multiple medications.  Clearly was overmedicated and had problems with them.  Finally, in 2001, she was given an MRI which found extensive pathology in her C-spine and her lumbar spine.  All along the way there was an implication that she just really didn’t want to return to work and that what else was going on with her was that she was depressed.  


Even I was surprised that the gentleman had gotten all this work-up in contrast to what I usually see with chronic pain patients but also chronic women patients.  


We don’t know the ways in which women’s issues, biology, and status affect their pain experience and that of her experience with her medical providers.  Pain management has really traditionally been taught in the department of anesthesia which was traditionally male-dominated.  When I started out, virtually all of the physicians and fellows and residents in pain were male.  In the past five years I’ve seen a difference, and there are more new fellows and women; and so, I’d say it’s far more equal.  


Women feel that men physicians treat them differently; that they treat them differently than women physicians do.  Women will say that women physicians take time to listen and understand the complexity of the problem and they just don’t throw drugs at the problem, with the caveat that most of the male physicians that I know who work in major medical centers or multidisciplinary pain programs really are very compassionate and do understand the complexity of the problem.


Other issues that affect women, such as sexual abuse trauma and domestic violence, also play a role in their experience of pain as well as their ability to relate to their physicians.  A woman who has been physically abused will have issues of trust with male providers, and a lot of this really hasn’t been understood as well.  There’s a higher incidence of depression in women.  The incidence is greater at specific points in a woman’s life:  menses, childbirth, and menopause.  These are times of significant hormonal change, and we really don’t understand the implications that this has for women.  Both OB/GYNs and endocrinologists are not trained in understanding issues related to pain, issues related to women, and issues related to mood.  


I’ve had a number of patients in the recent past few years who became pregnant—three patients with RSD who became pregnant—and we didn’t really have anywhere to turn because nobody really knew. . . . there was some indication about what medications were safe in terms of the antidepressants, but we had to find psychiatrists in women’s wellness to try and help us with this.  They weren’t trained in pain, so we were exploring as we went along:  How do these specific women’s issues affect how people are treated and what are the appropriate treatments and what’s safe for the mother and what’s safe for the baby?  Two of my patients chose to nurse their children.  One of my patients was a lactation specialist and had done a lot of research about what would be safe in terms of pain management for the baby.  While the pain management specialists were supporting her, the lactation and childbirth people in the hospital were quite alarmed because this just didn’t feel right; it just couldn’t possibly be good.  Both women were encouraged to not nurse her child.  In fact, there were times when the baby was given a bottle and which disturbed the mother’s ability to have her milk come in.  These are, obviously, issues that. . . . I mean, they only happened three times in my practice, but I’m at Stanford, and that’s a tertiary care practice.  And so, we’re just kind of finding our way with this.


We could go on and on—and it’s getting late—in terms of the variety of ways in which factors that affect women in pain are not understood.  We desperately need psychiatrists who are trained in understanding pain, understanding women’s issues, understanding women’s hormonal issues in terms of prescribing a medication.  We need more general information for primary care physicians in terms of really helping them understand how we know now that chronic pain has been helping them understand that our knowledge about chronic pain has changed so dramatically.  


Dealing with the insurance issue, many of the multidisciplinary pain management clinics that I know of have really had a great deal of difficulty in supporting their pain management psychologists.  Insurance won’t pay for it.  Insurance won’t pay for an eight-week class in pain management, but they’ll pay thousands of dollars for an intervention, a block.  The pain management programs have often had to narrow down their psychological pain management treatments to just cursory treatments, and so, that will affect the treatment that both women and men will get.


You had asked earlier about national legislation.  I don’t have it in front of me because I didn’t come prepared for this, but there is currently a bill in the United States Legislature, a very comprehensive pain management bill.  


Do you know who’s sponsoring it?  Can you speak more about it?


DR. FISHMAN:  [Inaudible] . . . It’s a bill that’s in Congress.  It looks like it may die, unfortunately.  I don’t remember the congressman who brought it.  Is that it?  Thank you.  The National Pain Care Policy Act of 2003.  It’s Mike Rogers and it’s not getting enough support from other legislators, unfortunately.  The hope is that it will be brought back; will be refitted, retooled, and brought back again.


DR. ADAMS:  Or you guys could take a look at it and pass it for California.


DR. FISHMAN:  I’m sure we can make it available to you.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Of course.


DR. ADAMS:  It’s a very comprehensive pain act.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you.  It’s just fascinating testimony, and I think many of our colleagues that aren’t here are listening from their boxes, and we’ve also been joined by Senator Alarcón.


One of my questions is, is that I remember hearing doctors saying that there is an appropriate place for pain in diagnosing various diseases.  In a very short way, could you explain that to me?  Where is it appropriate and when is it?  And is it part of that balanced discussion?


DR. RICHEIMER:  We need pain.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  We need it.


DR. RICHEIMER:  Right.  And people who are born with congenital defects so that they don’t experience pain die very young because they damage their bodies left and right.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  So, it’s a warning signal for us.


DR. RICHEIMER:  Exactly.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  It’s appropriate to have a certain amount of pain. 


DR. RICHEIMER:  Exactly.  Now, medicine sometimes takes that a little too far.  For instance, when I was in medical school, and until very recently, the idea was if somebody came into an emergency room with abdominal pain, you never gave them morphine or some equivalent because you would mess up the ability to diagnose what was wrong.  Recent literature shows that’s nonsense.  Get them out of their suffering and proceed with your evaluation.  If they have an appendix about to rupture, the morphine is not going to stop them from yelling when you press on the appendix.  Medicine has taken some of these ideas and distorted them, and we’re hopefully slowly going to get there.  But yes, to some degree, pain is necessary.  We have it for a reason.  It’s a necessary alarm.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  So, how do we teach ourselves and educate others as women or teach as children, as Senator Soto talked about, that maybe we need to educate ourselves and others?  At what point do we speak up?


DR. RICHEIMER:  You mean as a patient?


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  As a patient.  And how do we communicate that with physicians so that it’s heard?  When is it not appropriate pain?  I mean, how do we judge that?


DR. FISHMAN:  I can comment on that.  There’s no inappropriate pain.  Pain is either an alarm. . . . it’s either a symptom or it’s a disease, and it’s very important to recognize the difference, as Dr. Richeimer said.  Even though it’s a compelling idea that we might never feel pain again, it’s not something that any of us would want, because people unable to feel pain injure themselves constantly.  Pain is a system.  It’s almost like an organ in our bodies that help protect us, like other organs have roles that protect us.  If you don’t have that protection, you’re worse for it.  So, there’s no inappropriate complaint of pain.  


The problem is that many of us have all sorts of mixed messages about complaining about pain because we get it from our doctors, we get it from our parents, we get it from TV and the media.  There’s just all sorts of messages out there.  We actually did a symposium last year on pain in the medium—kind of like the messages that we’re getting from TV shows like ER and 20/20 Monday and 20/20 Tuesday and 20/20 Wednesday; you know, shows like that.  There’s a barrage out there.


There was a study that was done at UC Davis awhile back.  It was a very simple and elegant study where they took volunteers who went into the cancer clinic and coached the patients in the waiting room about how to talk about pain.  And the ones that were coached got far better pain care and had far lower pain scores ultimately than a matched group who didn’t get any coaching at all.  


So, I think your point is very apt.  Part of the problem is that we don’t ask for help or the way we ask for help is misinterpreted.  


You know, my feeling is—and I think I said this before—when someone complains of pain, they’re suffering from something, and it’s our job, it’s our obligation, to be the detective on that job for that crime.  Somehow, we’ve decided that it’s not our job in medicine, and I think that has more to do with the human sense that when we don’t really understand something, then we try to find some excuse for not making it our responsibility.  And it’s particularly heightened when we feel like it’s going to harm us:  If we do get involved, we’re going to get stigmatized; maybe Dan Rather or the DEA are going to come knocking at our door.  So, I think part of the problem is educating patients, but patients will never be very comfortable talking about their pain until what they say is welcomed by their clinicians. 


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Until we have the permission to say—what’s the word you taught us?  Pardon?  Gaman.  Until we have the permission.  


Thank you very much.


Do we have any other questions?  


Oh, Senator Alarcón had a question. 


SENATOR RICHARD ALARCÓN:  If we don’t have proper treatment analysis from the medical community, I’m curious as to how this affects disabilities in the workplace and if there are any appropriate guidelines relative to pain—not from the perspective of curing the medical problem, but from the perspective of getting the person to be able to work again—and how it might diminish the overall productivity of the patient and over time how much productivity we might be losing as a society because we’re not appropriately addressing it; not just from a medical perspective but from a perspective of a disability.


For example, do the AMA guidelines deal with the issues of pain appropriately, and are there any guidelines that you’re aware of related to disability?


DR. FISHMAN:  I think the core of disability is the ability part and really goes to the idea of function.  When someone’s disabled they’re dysfunctional; their function has been disturbed.  I don’t know if you were here when I talked about this, this change in our view of what is the appropriate outcome of pain relief.  Pain is, as we’ve discussed, an alarm that grabs our attention, and when we don’t have attention for other things in our lives, we can’t function normally.  When we take that pain away, we now can have attention for all sorts of other things and our function should improve.


I think we’re starting to see a shift in the disability world in terms of that model.  There’s no way that you can use this idea that we can tell who is and isn’t in pain.  I just did a workshop for all of the administrative law judges of California who are charged with the responsibility that you’re describing of sitting before these patients and saying, “You’re disabled and you are not” or that “You’re in pain and you’re not.”  It’s an impossible task.  What you can do is say, “You’re not functioning and you need treatment, and the end point of that treatment should be improved functioning.”  If the end point of the treatment doesn’t involve improved function, then that treatment isn’t succeeding, and that’s where we’ve kind of lost our compass on all of this.  We have all sorts of treatments that we dole out all the time, but some of them don’t improve function in people.  


I think it’s going to be critically important that we hold to that model.  If we really believe that what we’re doing is augmenting that alarm that drains our attention and drains our function, then we should be able to see improvement on an objective level.  Otherwise, what we’re dealing with is, really, a subjective phenomena that’s untestable and the outcome is untestable.  


And the disability in the workmen’s compensation problems, I don’t know if that’s what you’re really getting at.  I know there’s a crisis in workmen’s compensation, but they’re going to need to attend to pain at that level.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Actually, one of the major proposals of the administration is to create objective medical findings—a system of objective medical findings—to determine the disability rating, but I’ve never heard of any such standards.  You just said the whole determination about whether or not somebody is truly in pain—and not always but quite often—if that’s the only indicator of dysfunction, and you just said it was completely subjective, then how can you provide disability to anybody who has pain, if there are no objective standards?


DR. RICHEIMER:  I think you’re correct.  I think an effort to try to rely entirely on objective measures for disability will fail.  It’s not possible.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  But the only effect of that kind of proposal would be to take away workers’ compensation benefits from those who can’t prove objectively that they’re . . . 


DR. RICHEIMER:  That could be a result if that, in fact, is. . . . right.  So far we don’t yet have the Star Trek device where we can take a buzz and say, “Oh, yeah, you have nine out of ten pain.”


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  And given the testimony today, it might even be the case that that would have a discriminatory effect on women.


DR. RICHEIMER:  Yes; although, I think it would have a discriminatory effect on all pain patients.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  But one of the arguments presented today is that this disproportionately affects women.  If the class of people suffering from pain are the group that’s lopped off when you cut off benefits to those who cannot be defined as objectively having pain, then it might have a discriminatory effect on women.


DR. RICHEIMER:  Yes, it might.


DR. ADAMS:  And it does, especially women who are single mothers.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  You’re saying it does now.


DR. FISHMAN:  And _________ as well.


DR. ADAMS:  Right.


DR. RICHEIMER:  There is an area where it’s more easy to control the change in the workers’ compensation law, and that is in the area of reimbursement.  What is reimbursed?  What treatments are reimbursed?  I can tell you from personal experience that I see thousands of dollars pouring out the drain for procedural treatments that are way overcharged and way overutilized for essentially no purpose.  On the other hand, it can be incredibly difficult to get a psychologist reimbursed to provide care for a chronic pain workers’ compensation case because somebody’s going to decide, “Oh, we don’t want to open up the possibility that they also have a stress case.”


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Could you give me some examples?  Is carpal tunnel, for example, something that cannot be objectively discerned?


DR. FISHMAN:  There are actually objective markers for carpal tunnel, but there might not be.  It’s possible.  You know, the problem with pain is that, again, you heard that it’s complex.  It’s so complex that we often can’t measure it.  We probably will be able to measure it better in the future.  And there are many things that we . . . 


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Another one might be like migraines.


DR. FISHMAN:  Again, it’s very hard to measure a migraine.  Twenty years ago there were things that we would be arguing about the reality of that we now are certain are real because we can measure them now, and once we measure them we all feel more comfortable.  But again, there are few disorders—or there are few phenomenon in health care that are so intrinsically at that interface of the mind and body than pain, and that’s really where the problem is.  Really, the things that make us human are so at play when someone has pain; you usually can objectify the injury that occurred.  The problem is, we then start asking ourselves:  Well, is that more pain than the patient should have?  We don’t ask yourselves:  Shouldn’t they have more pain when someone is going back to work?  But somehow, when they have pain, we’re saying, Maybe that’s more than they should have had for that injury.

The problem is, we don’t understand pain well enough to assume that we would know the answer, and that’s the state that we’re in right now.  I don’t know if you disagree.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Well, it’s just ironic that we’re having this hearing to open the thoughts to accept the notions of pain as an underserved problem.  And yet, on the policy side, we’re talking about cutting dollars out of the system from exactly these kinds of people.  The one thing that I’ve learned in handling the workers’ comp issue is it’s absolutely true that if you cut your arm off, you lose weight, but it ain’t necessarily a good thing.  So, we need to find better ways to solve it.


DR. ADAMS:  I have a pet peeve with workers’ comp.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  No.


DR. ADAMS:  I do.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  You too?


DR. ADAMS:  And among them is the tremendous amount of litigation and the cost of the litigation to prove that pain is psychogenic; that really what is going on here is because you’re “[blah, blah, blah], but it isn’t because of this injury.”  Tremendous costs.


What I did want to show you, which I forgot, was the issue of gender and pain was the subject of an NIH symposium in 1998 that I went to.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  NIH is what?


DR. ADAMS:  National Institute of Health.  It was really, in my recollection, the first time that researchers really began to look at and present evidence that there are gender differences in the experience of pain and the expression of pain—perception of pain.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you.  It’s really fascinating.  I welcome you to return.


DR. RICHEIMER:  Thank you very much.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  I want to take the opportunity to thank Cynthia Toussaint again.  Cynthia, thank you; because if it wasn’t for you, we wouldn’t have had these wonderful conversations.  And I also want to thank Professor Hoffmann for coming all the way from Maryland.  I really appreciate your testimony.


Senator Soto, did you want to say anything?


SENATOR SOTO:  Thank you very much, everyone.  It was very interesting.  Now I’m hurting all over.  [Laughter.]


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  I look forward to working with everyone and increasing the knowledge for our legislators of gender-based biases among the medical community to ensure female patients receive the best possible care from their practitioners.  


I would like to thank you once again and look forward to seeing you.
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